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“We envisioned

a company that would
become known for
business relationships
built around exceptional
service delivered by the

best talent in the industry.”

Gary Holdren - ChairmanChief Executive Officer and President, Huron Consulting Group

Financial and Operating Highlights

(In thousands, except per share data, number of Year Ended December 31 Mafﬁ';; S:.’oznooz
consultants, average billing rates, and percentages) 2005 2004 2003 s D(;C 3‘: '2())02

Revenues (before reimbursable expenses) $207,213 $159,550 $101,486 $35,101
Operating Income (Loss) $31,581 $19,684 $(217) $(6,530)
Operating Margin 15.2% 12.3% N/A N/A
Net Income (Loss) $17,769 $9,933 $(2,129) $(4,812)
Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share $1.13 $0.77 $(0.18) $(0.41)
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share 1.05 $0.72 $(0.18) $(0.41)
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 31,820 $28,092 $4,251 $4,449
Working Capital $ 52,272 $42,898 $10,159 $9,780
Total Assets $129,699 $83,219 $39,889 $26,583
Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) $ 75,532 $49,233 $(6,624) $(4,543)
Return on Assets 17.4% 11.9% N/A N/A
Return on Equity 28.4% 20.2% N/A N/A
Number of Consultants (at end of period)

Average Number of Consultants (for the period)

Utilization Rate ©
Average Billing Rate Per Hour ©

(1) Consultants consist of billable professionals, excluding interns and independent contractors.

(2) Number of hours all consultants worked on client assignments divided by total available working hours for all consultants, assuming a forty-hour work week, less paid
holidays and vacation days.

(3) Revenues divided by the number of hours worked on client assignments.



Gary Holdren

Chairman, CEO and President
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To Our Shareholders,

We founded Huron Consulting Group in 2002 with
the goal of redefining the traditional consulting
experience. We envisioned a company that would
become known for business relationships built
around exceptional service delivered by the best
talent in the industry.

I’'m proud to report that 2005, our first full year as
a public company, once again confirmed the power
of this vision.

Through our financials, we reported continued
growth in all the important metrics: revenues
increased 29.9% to $207.2 million, organic
revenues increased 23.7%, utilization increased
to 76.5%, billable consultants increased by nearly
31%, and diluted earnings per share increased by
45.8% to $1.05 per share.

These numbers are gratifying. Yet, | believe that
our most significant accomplishments aren’t
measured in percentages or documented on
spreadsheets. From my perspective, our greatest
achievements are the culture we have created and
the depth of our relationships with our clients.
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Who We Are

We are, in short, our people. Their energy,
commitment and expertise create value and
solve complex business problems for our clients.

At Huron, we seek out people who are committed
to training hard, working hard and giving back to
their communities. We were remarkably successful
in attracting such people to our company in 2005,
increasing our billable consultant staff by nearly
31% to 632, including 75 professionals at the man-
aging director level, our most senior consulting tier.

In our recruiting, we place a heavy emphasis on
experience. Just as important we seek out people
who fit well into Huron’s culture. We emphasize
teamwork in our organization; compensation
structures reward our consultants for the quality
of their client relationships and their contribution
to our company overall.

Once we've identified and added the best people,
we work hard to create an environment that is
stimulating and rewarding.

We encourage collaborative learning, in which
diverse people debate issues, share opinions, and
grow from the increased knowledge. Our formal
training process available to all employees through
The Huron Academy, combines interactive and

Experience.Redefined."

traditional techniques to deepen skills and develop
leadership abilities. Our multi-tiered curriculum
provides lifelong training at all levels of our organi-
zation.

Focusing on our future, we launched an intensive
Leadership Development training program in 2005
with a core group of our managing directors. With
hands-on involvement by our most senior people,
this intensive, year-long program invites renowned
industry experts and our clients to help develop
our next generation of leaders.

Finally, we encourage a healthy balance between
work and personal life for all our people, and we
are proud that Huron’s people distinguish them-
selves as leaders in their communities. Our Civic
& Community Services Council, made up of our
geographic leaders, meets regularly to review
community support proposals, and it helps our
people find and join local organizations that reflect
their personal beliefs.

As a result, we supported more than 50 community
service projects in 2005, ranging from local
programs to national efforts. | am especially proud
that we donated $500,000 to relief efforts following
2005’s devastating hurricanes, with $200,000
coming from the Company and $300,000

contributed personally by our managing directors.




Huron’s CEO Advisory Council

The Advisory Council is composed

of 21 individuals at various levels from
across the company. The Council provides
frontline feedback and serves as a conduit
for communications with employees. They
also suggest programs to address issues
identified by employees that improve our

work environment.
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Who We Serve

Huron provides specialized service offerings
through two core segments:

* Financial Consulting focuses on business dispute
analysis, forensic accounting investigations,
restructuring, turnaround and bankruptcy advisory
services, economic consulting, forensic technology
and discovery services, investigative services
and valuation services delivered in many industries.

Operational Consulting helps clients improve
the overall efficiency and effectiveness

of their operations, reduce costs, manage
regulatory compliance and maximize
procurement efficiency. We provide performance
improvement and strategic sourcing services to
healthy and distressed clients in many industry
segments, with especially deep expertise in
healthcare, higher education, transportation and
corporate law departments.

In 2005, Financial Consulting represented 57%
of Huron’s revenues and Operational Consulting
represented 43%.

Our integrated services provide the best, most
successful solutions by melding talent and best
practices from across multiple practice groups.
The result is constant innovation, as consultants
with different backgrounds and experiences work
together to create new processes and systems
based on the changing needs of their clients.
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Since our inception, we have conducted more than
2,500 engagements for more than 1,400 clients,
including 37 of the 40 largest U.S. law firms listed
on The American Lawyer 2005 Am Law 100. In
addition, our people earned the privilege to serve:

« 70 of the 100 largest research institutions and
academic medical centers in the country,

* 50 general counsels and their corporate clients
in large corporate law departments, and

16 of the nation’s largest healthcare insurers.

In 2005, we deepened our healthcare credentials
with the acquisition of Speltz & Weis LLC, a
specialized consulting firm providing interim
management services to the healthcare provider
sector. This acquisition, and the approximately 25
senior-level consultants it added to our staff, gives
Huron the capabilities to not only serve healthy
healthcare providers but to also provide interim
management and related services to distressed
hospitals.

In addition, we expanded the depth of our
expertise with nationally recognized experts in
many fields, including corporate restructuring,
performance improvement, economics,

forensic accounting, higher education, intellectual
property, telecommunications, valuation, and
records management.

Experience.Redefined."

A New Type of Consulting Experience

Our future growth plan is based on a simple
formula: continue building a company composed
of people who are energized by our culture, and
support them as they build legendary client
relationships that transcend any one
engagement or issue.

We reward our people for creating collaborative
client relationships. We take care to understand
the root causes of business and legal issues
before offering solutions. We bring our collective
experience to bear on every engagement. We
are responsive. And we are passionate about
creating value.

It's a formula that works. We have delivered
multiple services to many of our clients. We
conduct regular client satisfaction reviews
following engagements. To date, 100% of the
respondents said they will consider Huron for
repeat engagements, and all would recommend
us to their peers.

For our people, we strive to create an immensely
satisfying work environment. For our clients,

we seek to create a new type of consulting
experience. It is, as we have promised from

our beginning, an

Experience. Redefined.

Gary Holdren




Revenue Representation
for the year ended December 31, 2005

Operational Consulting

Financial Consulting

Revenue per Consultant
(in thousands)

$367

2005 2004 2003 2002 @

Revenues (in millions)

$207.2

2005 2004 2003 2002

Average Revenue per Day
(in thousands) ©

$816

2005 2004 2003 2002

(1) Consultants consist of billable professionals, excluding interns and
independent contractors.

(2) Revenues for 2002 have been annualized based on revenues from
May 2002, when we commenced operations, to December 2002.

(3) Number of work days excluding holidays.
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In this annual report on Form 10-K, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms “Huron,
we,” “us” and “our” refer to Huron Consulting Group Inc. and its subsidiaries.

company,”

[

This annual report on Form 10-K, including the information incorporated by reference, contains forward-
looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements are identified by words such as “may,” “should,” “expects,”
“plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” or “continue” or the negative of such terms or other comparable ter-
minology. These forward-looking statements reflect our current expectation about our future results, levels of
activity, performance or achievements, including, without limitation, that our business continues to grow at the
current expectations with respect to, among other factors, utilization rates, billing rates and number of consultants;
that we are able to expand our service offerings through our existing consultants and new hires; and that existing
market conditions do not change from current expectations. These statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors, including, among others, those described under “Risk Factors,” that may cause
actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results,
levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements.

PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
OVERVIEW

We are an independent provider of financial and operational consulting services. Our highly experienced and
credentialed professionals employ their expertise in accounting, finance, economics and operations to provide our
clients with specialized analysis and customized advice and solutions that are tailored to address each client’s
particular challenges and opportunities.

Huron was formed in March 2002 and commenced operations in May 2002. We were founded by a core
group of experienced financial and operational consultants that consisted primarily of former Arthur Andersen LLP
partners and professionals, including our Chief Executive Officer, Gary E. Holdren, with equity sponsorship from a
group of investors led by Lake Capital Management LLC.

In October 2004, we completed our initial public offering and became a publicly traded company listed on the
NASDAQ National Market. In May 2005, we acquired Speltz & Weis LLC, a specialized consulting firm that con-
sisted of 26 consultants, so that we can provide interim management, organizational renewal and turnaround
services and other crisis management services to distressed hospitals and other healthcare facilities.

We have grown significantly since we commenced operations, nearly tripling the number of our consultants
from 213 on May 31, 2002 to 632 on December 31, 2005. We have hired experienced professionals from a
variety of organizations, including the four largest public accounting firms, referred to as the Big Four, and other
consulting firms. Our credentialed consultants include certified public accountants, MBAs, accredited valuation
specialists and forensic accountants. As of December 31, 2005, we had 75 managing directors who are con-
sultants. These individuals have an average of 22 years of business experience. In addition to our headquarters in
Chicago, we have five other core offices located in Boston, Houston, New York City, San Francisco and Wash-
ington D.C. and two small offices located in Charlotte and Los Angeles.

OUR SERVICES

We provide our services through two segments: Financial Consulting and Operational Consulting. For the
year ended December 31, 2005, we derived 57.0% of our revenues from Financial Consulting and 43.0% from
Operational Consulting. For further financial information on our segment results, see “Management’s discussion
and analysis of financial condition and results of operations” and note “17. Segment Information” in the notes to
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.




Financial Consulting

Our Financial Consulting segment provides highly specialized financial and economic analysis and advice to
help clients effectively address complex challenges that arise from litigation, disputes, investigations, regulation,
financial distress and other sources of significant conflict or change. Our Financial Consulting segment consisted
of 306 consultants as of December 31, 2005. This segment’s practices and the services they offer include:

< Disputes and investigations. Our disputes and investigations practice provides financial and economic
analysis to support law firms and corporations in connection with business disputes, lawsuits and regu-
latory or internal investigations. We have extensive experience in the areas of financial investigations and
forensic accounting, including matters involving the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or
other regulatory inquiries or investigations, financial restatements and special accounting projects. We
provide specialized accounting services to gather and analyze voluminous financial data and reconstruct
complex transactions and events. In addition, we apply economic and econometric analyses in the areas
of antitrust and anticompetitive practices, securities fraud, insurance claims and damages, as well as
deliver or support independent expert testimony in such cases.

« Corporate advisory services. Our corporate advisory services practice provides consulting assistance
to financially distressed companies, creditor constituencies and other stakeholders in connection with
bankruptcy proceedings and out-of-court restructurings. For distressed companies, we assess the viability
of their business and work closely with management to develop and implement a turnaround plan to im-
prove cash flow and a debt-restructuring plan to improve their balance sheet. In some instances, we
serve in interim management roles. When out-of-court solutions are not achievable, we assist clients with
preparing for a Chapter 11 bankruptcy filing and with all aspects of the bankruptcy process by gathering,
analyzing and presenting financial and business information needed to achieve a successful reorganiza-
tion. We also provide claims management services to help companies process and analyze complex and
voluminous claims filed in bankruptcies. For creditor constituencies, including committees of unsecured
creditors, we provide similar financial analyses designed to maximize the recovery of amounts owed to
creditors and assess the viability of a debtor’s reorganization plan.

» Valuation services. Our valuation services practice delivers expert valuation analysis to clients and their
advisors. We perform valuations of businesses, financial interests, intellectual property, real property,
machinery and equipment and other tangible and intangible assets. Our valuation services practice typi-
cally supports client needs in the following contexts:

e Transactions: supporting clients’ financial and tax reporting, especially in the context of acquisitions
and other corporate transactions;

e Litigation or disputes: valuing businesses or assets; and
e Bankruptcies: supporting the restructuring process or the sale of business assets.

* Interim management/Focused consulting. With our acquisition of Speltz and Weis LLC, we can provide
additional services to distressed hospitals and other healthcare facilities. Our interim management/
focused consulting practice typically provides the following services:

* Interim management: serving as on-site senior management, including Chief Executive Officer, Chief
Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer, with a specialization in managing distressed hospital
systems and facilities; also provide chief restructuring officers to facilities in bankruptcy;

« Focused consulting: the interim managers are supported by consultants that provide revenue cycle
improvements, cost reduction initiatives, clinical support, revenue generation/business development,
financial planning and analysis and litigation support; and

e Bankruptcies, workouts and restructuring: in addition to providing chief restructuring officers to facili-
ties in bankruptcy, we provide creditor relations and facilitation and reorganization planning and
out-of-court workouts.
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Operational Consulting

Our Operational Consulting segment provides services designed to help clients improve the overall efficiency
and effectiveness of their operations by enhancing revenue, reducing costs, managing regulatory compliance and
maximizing procurement efficiencies. Our Operational Consulting segment consisted of 326 consultants as of
December 31, 2005. This segment’s practices and the services they offer include:

Higher education. Our higher education practice provides operational consulting services to colleges,
universities and academic medical centers. We provide financial modeling, operational process redesign,
strategic planning and assessments and advice on software selection and implementation, especially in
connection with helping research universities address the challenges and complexities of administering
research programs, including the complex requirements of federally-funded research. Our research
administration services include compliance assessments, cost recovery services and operations assis-
tance. We also have extensive experience implementing the PeopleSoft® Grants Suite as a technology
solution to sponsored research administration challenges. Our specialty is in the areas of Grants, Proj-
ects, Contracts, Billings, and Accounts Receivable applications.

Healthcare. Our healthcare practice helps healthcare providers and payors effectively address their stra-
tegic, operational, management, and financial challenges. On the provider side, we help hospitals, physi-
cians and other healthcare providers improve operations by performing assessments and implementing
solutions designed to reduce costs and increase effectiveness. Our engagements typically focus on rev-
enue cycle and cash acceleration, supply chain improvements, strategic growth and planning, financial
planning and physician/ancillary services. Additionally, we provide risk management and regulatory com-
pliance solutions. For healthcare payors, we focus on compliance and government contracting issues re-
lated to federal healthcare programs. Our Medicare contract services include Medicare contract transition
and termination assistance, implementation of cost accounting standards, secondary payer analyses,
strategic assessments, proposal support services and assistance related to implementation of the Medi-
care Modernization Act. We assist pharmaceutical companies with pricing analyses and related aspects
of regulatory disclosures and calculations. We also assist health plans with various operational issues in-
cluding claims processing over and under-payments, Pharmacy Benefit Manager audits and business
performance reporting.

Legal business consulting. Our legal business consulting practice helps both in-house legal depart-
ments and outside counsel enhance the quality of legal services while reducing costs by more efficiently
aligning strategy, people, processes and technology. We provide strategic advice to help legal depart-
ments and law firms improve their organizational design, business processes, and management of out-
side counsel and we work with corporations and law firms to provide solutions to enhance their discovery
process management and electronic discovery needs. One area of emphasis is helping clients to choose
and implement technology solutions that improve legal department operations. We provide a full array of
forensic technology, discovery, and records management services that include discovery process ex-
ecution, electronic discovery services, computer forensics, data management, records program develop-
ment, records improvement planning and process, and program management, all aimed at reducing
costs, coordinating matters and people, streamlining processes and reducing risks. We also have ex-
tensive experience in selecting, customizing and successfully rolling out matter management systems and
E-Billing systems that help legal departments track and manage lawsuits and other legal matters. These
systems are powerful tools for managing budgets, spending and resources. We provide similar services
for document management systems and patent management applications.

Strategic sourcing. Our strategic sourcing practice works with clients to drive sustainable non-salary
cost reductions. We help clients achieve significant savings by addressing the entire procurement proc-
ess, including contract negotiations, vendor selection, contract compliance, consumption patterns, total
cost of ownership, performance measurement, knowledge transfer and make-versus-buy decisions. We
identify opportunities for measurable savings, develop approved action plans and guide the im-
plementation of those plans to final conclusion. We have achieved substantial savings for clients in a wide
variety of spend categories, including office-related products, telecommunications, IT hardware, software
and services, insurance, printing services, travel and industry-specific categories.




e Performance improvement. Our performance improvement practice works with executive officers and
other senior managers of large and middle-market organizations that have recently undergone a change
in leadership, are integrating acquisitions or are coping with a change in competitive dynamics to address
performance challenges and take advantage of opportunities. Our engagements typically increase effec-
tiveness of operations or decrease costs by developing and implementing solutions for clients in areas
such as business alignment, operational improvement, selling, general and administrative cost efficiency,
and organizational alignment.

OUR CLIENTS

We provide financial and operational consulting services to a wide variety of both financially sound and dis-
tressed organizations, including Fortune 500 companies, medium-sized businesses, academic institutions,
healthcare organizations and the law firms that represent these various organizations. Our clients are in a broad
array of industries, including education, professional services, transportation services, healthcare, tele-
communications, financial services, electronics, consumer products, energy and utilities, industrial manufacturing
and food and beverage. Since commencing operations in May 2002, we have conducted over 2,500 engage-
ments for over 1,400 clients, and we have worked on engagements with 37 of the 40 largest U.S. law firms listed
in The American Lawyer 2005 Am Law 100. Our top ten clients represented 38.3% and 27.8% of our revenues in
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Revenues from one client represented 11.1% of our
revenues in 2005. No single client accounted for more than 10% of our revenues in 2004. The following are
examples of engagements that we have performed for our clients.

Financial Consulting

Practice Client need Huron solution

Disputes and Assist legal counsel » Forensic accounting experts conducted a large-scale, in-

investigations for an audit depth financial analysis of financial records and analyzed
committee of a issues such as revenue recognition, acquisition accounting,
public software capitalization of assets, complex transactions and goodwill
company in impairment to identify accounting errors.

connection with an
SEC investigation
and class action

» Consultants specializing in GAAP assisted the client with
preparation of the restatement of its financial statements and
presentations to the SEC.

litigation
Corporate advisory Assist with Chapter » Pre-petition, developed procedures and “playbooks” in the
services 11 bankruptcy event the client had to file for bankruptcy protection,
proceedings of an including implementation of policies and procedures relating
air transportation to cash management, aircraft and supplier related issues,
company and financing related matter.

» Post-petition, participated in the restructuring office and
provided a wide range of analyses, including: reporting
requirements (monthly operation reports, statement and
schedules and required reports from various creditor
committees); business plan assistance; implementation of
Statement of Position 90-7—Financial Reporting by Entities
in Reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code; claims
management and reconciliation; evaluation of potential
courses of action related to preferences, executory contracts
and lease negotiations; monitoring of other case constituents
and their advisors; and the development of a joint plan of
reorganization and disclosure statement.
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Practice

Client need

Huron solution

Valuation services

Value assets of
acquired company
for purchase price
allocation by a
global media
company

» Analyzed the fair market value of the assets of the acquired
company, including tangible assets, customer relationships,
favorable contracts, franchise value and goodwiill.

» Determined the remaining life of the assets as well as tested
for impairment of the assets in other operating units to
support financial reporting requirements.

Interim management /
Focused consulting

Provide interim
management and
performing focused
consulting services
for a large hospital
system in the
United States

» Provided experienced senior executive management,
including the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial
Officer, the Chief Operating Officer and various department
managers.

» Made revenue cycle improvements by analyzing and
correcting back-office operations, monitoring tools that report
key metrics, improving coding and automation and analyzing
and renegotiating payor contracts to improve performance
including achieving significant increases in cash flow,
improved relations with trade creditors and system
improvements for the long term.

Operational Consulting

Practice

Client need

Huron solution

Higher education and
strategic sourcing

Assess research
administration
infrastructure of a
leading university
due to dramatic
growth in research
volume and
increased scrutiny
of federal regulators

» Evaluated current operations and provided a plan for
implementation of improvements to research administration
infrastructure, including:

»roles and responsibilities within central university units and
departmental units;

» organizational structure of the research enterprise,
including its relationship with other university entities;

» business processes;

» information systems;

» personnel;

» training and educational programs; and

» performance measures for central research units.

» Evaluated the exposure of the primary research support units
to financial and operational risks relating to research
universities.

» Assessed impact of plans to replace university-wide financial
systems on research administration support services.

» Our strategic sourcing practice identified areas where the
university could reduce its costs of procuring goods and
services, such as through library services, scientific supplies
or office-related products.




Practice

Client need Huron solution

Healthcare

Improve operating » Comprehensive assessment of performance levels related to
margins of operating costs, supply costs, revenue cycle and
healthcare provider  organizational structure efficiency.

» Quantified and prioritized areas of potential opportunity for
change, growth and/or improvement, including revenue
management, use of supplies and efficiency of information
systems.

» Developed and implemented plans for sustained
improvements in:

» supply chain;
»revenue cycle; and

» organizational effectiveness.

Assist in recovering » Assisted a large health insurance organization perform a
overpaid claims detailed analysis of its coordination of benefits programs.

» ldentified a significant number of claims that had been paid
in error by the client and assisted the client in recovering
these overpayments.

Legal business consulting

Huron Consulting Group 2005 10-K

Implement » Developed electronic records management strategy, policy
management and standards.

system for the
management and
control of e-mail to
reduce storage » Developed technical, legal/regulatory and user specifications
cost, improve for e-mail management system.

performance and
ensure the retention
of e-mail in
accordance with
company records

» Reviewed and updated records retention policy and
metadata standards.

» Conducted a proof of concept to ensure technical
compatibility with their IT infrastructure, a second proof of
concept to ensure adequate risk and regulatory functionality
and a full production pilot to ensure that the system meets
end user ease of use acceptance.

retention

requirements fora  » Provided technical and records management expertise for
global chemical the development of RFP and system selection.

company

» Developed change management process for company-wide
roll-out of the system.

Provide strategic ~ » Performed an assessment of current records management
records program structure and practices in U.S.
management advice

and support for the » Developed strategic plan for global records management

including the management of e-mail, electronic documents

design and .
) . and enterprise data systems.
implementation of a
global records » Prepared road map for phased implementation of the plan to
management sites worldwide over a three-year period.
program forla » Developed corporate records retention schedules for records
pharmaceutical . .
in all media format

company

6




Practice

Client need Huron solution

Implement an » Evaluated existing electronic document and hardcopy/image-
electronic discovery  based discovery processes.
system and an

. . » Recommended and implemented an electronic document
enterprise-wide

discovery solution to successfully reprocess documents and

discovery provide a review and production platform.
management
solution » Structured and managed the electronic review, including

providing the on-site attorney training, system metrics and
user reports.

» Developed end-to-end company wide solution for all
discovery management needs from issuance of legal holds
through case archival and record retention.

Develop cost saving » Analyzed processing of legal matters through various phases
initiatives for and the distribution and management of legal work by
pharmaceutical internal and outside staff.

company'’s recently

expanded legal » Developed cost saving initiatives to improve organizational

design, outside counsel management and business process.

department
» Assisted with the implementation of an interim matter
management system for litigation and the selection of a new
department-wide matter management system that will be
implemented over a period of time.

Performance improvement Devised an » Synthesized market research, customer feedback and
overarching industry benchmarks to provoke discussion about future
strategy for the direction and priorities in the supply chain arena.
supply chain

» Facilitated a process to build consensus among senior
management from across major business units leading to the
development of strategies, a long-range plan and a series of
near-term initiatives.

function for a large
consumer products
client

INDUSTRY BACKGROUND

We believe many organizations are facing increasingly large and complex business disputes and lawsuits, a
growing number of regulatory and internal investigations and more intense public scrutiny. Concurrently, we
believe increased competition and regulation are presenting significant operational and financial challenges for
organizations. Distressed companies are responding to these challenges by restructuring and reorganizing their
businesses and capital structures, while financially healthy organizations are striving to capitalize on opportunities
by improving operations, reducing costs and enhancing revenue. Many organizations have limited dedicated
resources to respond effectively to these challenges and opportunities. Consequently, we believe these orga-
nizations will increasingly seek to augment their internal resources with experienced independent consultants like

us.

We believe the demand for our services is driven by the following factors:

- SEC and internal investigations. The increased scrutiny of accounting practices, internal controls and
disclosure has contributed to the large number of financial restatements by public companies. In response
to a number of recent incidences of corporate malfeasance and accounting irregularities, the SEC has
conducted an increasing number of public company investigations over the past few years. Between fiscal
2003 and 2004, the SEC increased its enforcement staffing by approximately 29% and initiated approx-
imately 950 investigations. For fiscal year 2005, Congress approved a record $913 million budget, 13%
above the prior fiscal year’s appropriation, to hire more staff and continue to enhance SEC oversight and
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investigation initiatives. For fiscal 2007, the President has recommended a budget of $904.8 million. In
addition, an increasing number of boards of directors, audit committees and special independent
committees of companies that have had to review their historical financials or respond to complaints by
whistleblowers have conducted internal forensic investigations to determine the underlying facts. These
dynamics have driven demand for independent financial consultants like us who help clients respond to
SEC investigations, evaluate restatements of financial statements and support internal investigations by
combining investigative accounting and financial reporting skills with business and practical experience.

Litigation and disputes. Litigation and business disputes are prevalent in the United States and, we be-
lieve, the volume of this activity does not necessarily correlate with the economic cycle. The breadth and
magnitude of these matters is increasing. For example, antitrust investigation and enforcement activities
by federal, state and local authorities present heightened complexities and risks for companies in the
areas of mergers and acquisitions, pricing policies, distribution relationships and patent and intellectual
property matters. In addition, private parties can bring antitrust claims asserting a variety of violations. In
complex litigation and disputes, organizations and the law firms that represent them regularly engage
experienced consultants to provide or support expert testimony or perform data analyses involving finan-
cial, economic and accounting issues.

Sarbanes-Oxley and stockholder activism. The enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has
substantially limited the scope of non-audit services that large public accounting firms, such as the Big
Four, can provide to their audit clients. We believe these limitations represent a significant opportunity for
independent consulting firms. A study done by the Investor Responsibility Research Center in February
2002 of 1,224 public U.S. companies estimated that 72%, or approximately $4.0 billion, of the fees these
companies paid to the accounting firm that conducted their audit in fiscal 2000 were for non-audit serv-
ices. Although a substantial amount of this spending was for tax services, which we do not provide, we
believe there is still a significant opportunity to provide the other non-audit services. Further, certain influ-
ential institutional investors, citing concerns over perceived conflicts of interest, have opposed the rat-
ification of auditors and the election of directors of companies that engage their auditors to perform
permissible non-audit services. We believe that the restrictions of Sarbanes-Oxley, stockholder opposition
to auditors performing consulting services for their audit clients and the relatively small number of large
public accounting firms will lead many clients to choose independent consulting firms over the Big Four
when seeking providers of various consulting services.

Operational challenges and opportunities. Organizations must constantly reevaluate business processes
in order to manage change and risk and minimize or recover costs. For example, in the healthcare industry,
the steady flow of changes that affect healthcare funding, treatments, delivery and administration increase
the difficulty in managing a complex mix of factors, including rising healthcare costs and insurance pre-
miums and the increasing number of uninsured citizens. In the higher education industry, research uni-
versities and academic medical centers must develop and maintain programs to effectively manage
research compliance risks and implement systems that support the recovery of research costs. Additionally,
the difficulties of managing a large number of legal matters compels in-house legal departments to seek
ways to improve their efficiency and effectiveness, which drives demand for consultants specializing in legal
department operations. In general, a variety of organizations seek to improve their procurement efficiencies,
improve operational processes and reduce costs. We believe that in seeking to meet these challenges and
capitalize on these opportunities, organizations will increasingly augment their internal resources with con-
sultants who can provide a combination of industry expertise and strong technical skills.

Improving economic conditions and merger and acquisition activity. Despite depressed levels in
recent years, there was a rebound in merger and acquisition, or M&A, activity in 2004 amidst an
improvement in general economic conditions. According to Dealogic, the aggregate dollar value of an-
nounced M&A transactions increased approximately 32% in 2005 compared to 2004. We believe M&A
activity creates demand for financial consulting services, such as purchase price allocations and other
similar valuation services and dispute and litigation services, as well as operational consulting services,
such as merger integration, margin improvement and strategic sourcing.




* Financial distress. Despite the recent decline in corporate bankruptcy filings, we believe there will con-
tinue to be a sufficient number of bankruptcies of the size and complexity that typically require debtors
and other constituents to retain the services of financial advisors. Additionally, we believe there is an on-
going need for restructuring and turnaround consulting services to assist financially distressed, under-
performing and debt-laden companies and their stakeholders outside of the bankruptcy process.

EMPLOYEES

Our ability to bring the right expertise together to address client issues requires a willingness to work and
think outside the bounds of a single practice or specialty. Our success depends on our ability to attract and retain
highly talented professionals by creating a work environment where both individuals and teams thrive and in-
dividuals are rewarded not only for their own contributions but also for the success of our organization as a whole.
To accomplish those goals and recognize performance, we have adopted a comprehensive rewards program in-
corporating compensation, training and development opportunities, performance management and special recog-
nition programs that motivates individual performance and promotes teamwork.

As of December 31, 2005, we had 773 employees, consisting of 632 consultants and 141 non-billable pro-
fessionals. The 632 consultants consisted of 75 managing directors, 95 directors, 144 managers and 318 asso-
ciates and analysts. Of these consultants, 142 have a master’s degree in business administration, 79 are certified
public accountants and various others are accredited valuation specialists and forensic accountants. Our manag-
ing directors serve clients as advisors and engagement team leaders, originate revenue through new and existing
client relationships, and work to strengthen our intellectual capital, develop our people and enhance our reputa-
tion. Our directors and managers manage day-to-day client relationships and oversee the delivery and overall
quality of our work product. Our associates and analysts gather and organize data, conduct detailed analyses and
prepare presentations that synthesize and distill information to support recommendations we deliver to clients. In
addition to our consultants and non-billable professionals, in certain cases we also utilize independent con-
tractors.

Our 141 non-billable professionals at December 31, 2005 consisted of 10 managing directors, 27 directors,
23 managers, 41 associates and analysts and 40 assistants. Our non-billable professionals include our senior
management team, senior client relationship managers and legal, finance, information technology, marketing and
human resource personnel.

We assimilate and support employees in their career progression through training and development pro-
grams. We have structured orientation and training programs for new analysts, “milestone” programs to help re-
cently promoted employees quickly become effective in their new roles, and opportunities for self-directed
training, including technical and consulting courses. We assign employees internal performance coaches to
identify opportunities for development, formal training or certifications.

Our compensation plan includes competitive base salary, incentives and benefits. Under our incentive plan,
directors, managers, associates and analysts set goals each year with a performance coach. These goals are
aligned with our business goals as well as individual interests and development needs. Managing directors set
goals with their practice leader using a balanced scorecard. The incentive plan balances our value of teamwork
with recognition of individual performance, and incentive compensation is tied to both team and individual
performance. Incentives for managing directors are based on their individual performance and their contribution to
their practice and to our business as a whole. Funding of the incentive pool is based on our achievement of
annual financial goals and each practice’s achievement of its financial goals. In addition, managing directors and
certain high-performing directors may receive long-term equity incentives.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND MARKETING
Business development

Our business development activities aim to build relationships and a strong brand reputation with key sources
of business and referrals, especially top-tier law firms and the offices of the chief financial officer and general




counsel of organizations. We believe that excellent service delivery to clients is critical to building relationships
and our brand reputation, and we emphasize the importance of client service to all of our employees.

We generate most of our new business opportunities through relationships that our managing directors have
with individuals working in corporations, academic institutions, existing or former clients and top-tier law firms. Al-
though some managing directors spend more time on service delivery than new business development, all of our
managing directors understand their important role in ongoing relationship and business development, which is
reinforced through our compensation and incentive program. We actively seek to identify new business oppor-
tunities, and we frequently receive referrals and repeat business from past and current clients and from the law
firms with which we have worked.

We also from time to time host conferences that facilitate client development opportunities. For example, in
the third quarter of 2005, we hosted a corporate advisory services summit providing a forum to develop and
strengthen new and existing client relationships in the legal and financial services areas.

In addition, to complement the business development efforts of our managing directors, we have a group of
senior client relationship managers who are focused exclusively on developing client relationships and generating
new business through their extensive network of contacts. We also have formed relationships with prominent
academics, which generate new business opportunities.

Marketing

We have a centralized marketing department with a marketing professional assigned to each of our practices.
The centralized department coordinates these professionals’ activities, and also develops and coordinates tradi-
tional marketing programs, such as participation in seminars, sponsorship of client events and publication of ar-
ticles in industry publications to actively promote our name and capabilities. The marketing department also
manages public relations activities, develops printed marketing materials and performs research and database
management to support sales efforts.

COMPETITION

The consulting services industry is extremely competitive, highly fragmented and subject to rapid change.
The industry includes a large number of participants with a variety of skills and industry expertise, including other
business operations and financial consulting firms, general management consulting firms, the consulting practices
of major accounting firms, technical and economic advisory firms, regional and specialty consulting firms and the
internal professional resources of organizations. We compete with a large number of service providers in both of
our segments. Our competitors often vary depending on the particular practice area. In addition, we also expect to
continue to face competition from new entrants because the barriers to entry into consulting services are relatively
low.

We believe the principal competitive factors in our market include firm and consultant reputations, client and
law firm relationships and referrals, the ability to attract and retain top consultants, the ability to manage engage-
ments effectively and the ability to be responsive and provide high quality services. There is also competition on
price, although to a lesser extent due to the critical nature of many of the issues that the types of services we offer
address. Many of our competitors have a greater geographic footprint, including an international presence, and
name recognition, as well as have significantly greater personnel, financial, technical and marketing resources
than we do. We believe that our independence, experience, reputation, industry focus and broad range of pro-
fessional services enable us to compete favorably and effectively in the consulting marketplace.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amend-
ments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act are available free
of charge on our website, www.huronconsultinggroup.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electroni-
cally file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our inability to retain our senior management team and other managing directors would be detrimental to
the success of our business.

We rely heavily on our senior management team, including Gary Holdren, our Chief Executive Officer, Daniel
Broadhurst, our Vice President of Operations, Gary Burge, our Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, and other
managing directors, and our ability to retain them is particularly important to our future success. Given the highly
specialized nature of our services, these people must have a thorough understanding of our service offerings as
well as the skills and experience necessary to manage an organization consisting of a diverse group of pro-
fessionals. In addition, we rely on our senior management team and other managing directors to generate and
market our business. Further, in light of our limited operating history, our senior management’s and other manag-
ing directors’ personal reputations and relationships with our clients are a critical element in obtaining and main-
taining client engagements. Although we enter into non-solicitation agreements with our senior management team
and other managing directors, we do not enter into non-competition agreements. Accordingly, members of our
senior management team and our other managing directors are not contractually prohibited from leaving or joining
one of our competitors, and some of our clients could choose to use the services of that competitor instead of our
services. If one or more members of our senior management team or our other managing directors leave and we
cannot replace them with a suitable candidate quickly, we could experience difficulty in securing and successfully
completing engagements and managing our business properly, which could harm our business prospects and
results of operations.

Our inability to hire and retain talented people in an industry where there is great competition for talent
could have a serious negative effect on our prospects and results of operations.

Our business involves the delivery of professional services and is highly labor-intensive. Our success de-
pends largely on our general ability to attract, develop, motivate and retain highly skilled consultants. The loss of a
significant number of our consultants or the inability to attract, hire, develop, train and retain additional skilled per-
sonnel could have a serious negative effect on us, including our ability to manage, staff and successfully complete
our existing engagements and obtain new engagements. Qualified consultants are in great demand, and we face
significant competition for both senior and junior consultants with the requisite credentials and experience. Our
principal competition for talent comes from other consulting firms, accounting firms and technical and economic
advisory firms, as well as from organizations seeking to staff their internal professional positions. Many of these
competitors may be able to offer significantly greater compensation and benefits or more attractive lifestyle
choices, career paths or geographic locations than we do. Therefore, we may not be successful in attracting and
retaining the skilled consultants we require to conduct and expand our operations successfully. Increasing com-
petition for these consultants may also significantly increase our labor costs, which could negatively affect our
margins and results of operations.

We have experienced net losses for the first part of our history, and our limited operating history makes
evaluating our business difficult.

We have been operating since May 2002. For the period from March 19, 2002 (inception) through De-
cember 31, 2002 and for the year ended December 31, 2003, we experienced net losses of $4.2 million and $1.1
million, respectively. Although we generated net income of $10.9 million and $17.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively, we may not sustain profitability in the future. Our net losses, among
other things, have had, and should net losses occur in the future, will have, an adverse effect on our stockholders’
equity and working capital. To sustain profitability, we must:

e attract, integrate, retain and motivate highly qualified consultants;

e achieve and maintain adequate utilization and suitable billing rates for our consultants;

e expand our existing relationships with our clients and identify new clients in need of our services;
e maintain and enhance our brand recognition; and

e adapt to meet changes in our markets and competitive developments.
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We may not be successful in accomplishing these objectives. Further, our limited operating history makes it
difficult to evaluate our business and prospects. Our prospects must be considered in light of the risks, un-
certainties, expenses and difficulties frequently encountered by companies in their early stages of development,
particularly companies in highly competitive industries. The historical information in this report may not be in-
dicative of our future financial condition and future performance. For example, we expect that our future annual
growth rate in revenues will moderate and likely be less than the growth rates experienced in 2003, 2004 and
2005.

If we are unable to manage the growth of our business successfully, we may not be able to sustain
profitability.

We have grown significantly since we commenced operations, nearly tripling the number of our consultants
from 213 on May 31, 2002 to 632 as of December 31, 2005. As we continue to increase the number of our con-
sultants, we may not be able to successfully manage a significantly larger workforce. Additionally, our significant
growth has placed demands on our management and our internal systems, procedures and controls and will con-
tinue to do so in the future. To successfully manage growth, we must add administrative staff and periodically
update and strengthen our operating, financial, accounting and other systems, procedures and controls, which will
increase our costs and may adversely affect our gross profits and our ability to sustain profitability if we do not
generate increased revenues to offset the costs. This need to augment our support infrastructure due to growth is
compounded by our decision to become a public reporting company and the increased expense that will arise in
complying with existing and new regulatory requirements. As a public company, our information and control sys-
tems must enable us to prepare accurate and timely financial information and other required disclosure. If we dis-
cover deficiencies in our existing information and control systems that impede our ability to satisfy our reporting
requirements, we must successfully implement improvements to those systems in an efficient and timely manner.

Our financial results could suffer if we are unable to achieve or maintain adequate utilization and suitable
billing rates for our consultants.

Our profitability depends to a large extent on the utilization and billing rates of our consultants. Utilization of
our consultants is affected by a number of factors, including:

e the number and size of client engagements;

* the timing of the commencement, completion and termination of engagements, which in many cases is
unpredictable;

e our ability to transition our consultants efficiently from completed engagements to new engagements;

« the hiring of additional consultants because there is generally a transition period for new consultants that
results in a temporary drop in our utilization rate;

e unanticipated changes in the scope of client engagements;

e our ability to forecast demand for our services and thereby maintain an appropriate level of consultants;
and

e conditions affecting the industries in which we practice as well as general economic conditions.

The billing rates of our consultants that we are able to charge are also affected by a number of factors,
including:

e our clients’ perception of our ability to add value through our services;

« the market demand for the services we provide;

e introduction of new services by us or our competitors;

e our competition and the pricing policies of our competitors; and

e general economic conditions.
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If we are unable to achieve and maintain adequate overall utilization as well as maintain or increase the bill-
ing rates for our consultants, our financial results could materially suffer.

A significant portion of our revenues is derived from a limited number of clients, and our engagement
agreements, including those related to our largest clients, can be terminated by our clients with little or
no notice and without penalty, which may cause our operating results to be unpredictable.

As a consulting firm, we have derived, and expect to continue to derive, a significant portion of our revenues
from a limited number of clients. Our ten largest clients accounted for 38.3%, 27.8% and 32.1% for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and 36.3% of our revenues in the partial year ended
December 31, 2002. One of our clients accounted for 11.1% of our revenues in the year ended December 31,
2005. Our clients typically retain us on an engagement-by-engagement basis, rather than under fixed-term con-
tracts; the volume of work performed for any particular client is likely to vary from year to year and a major client
in one fiscal period may not require or decide to use our services in any subsequent fiscal period. Moreover, a
large portion of our new engagements come from existing clients. Accordingly, the failure to obtain new large
engagements or multiple engagements from existing or new clients could have a material adverse effect on the
amount of revenues we generate.

In addition, almost all of our engagement agreements can be terminated by our clients with little or no notice
and without penalty. For example, in engagements related to litigation, if the litigation were to be settled, our en-
gagement for those services would no longer be necessary and therefore would be terminated. In client engage-
ments that involve multiple engagements or stages, there is a risk that a client may choose not to retain us for
additional stages of an engagement or that a client will cancel or delay additional planned engagements. For cli-
ents in bankruptcy, a bankruptcy court could elect not to retain our interim management consultants, terminate
our retention, require us to reduce our fees for the duration of an engagement or approve claims against fees
earned by us prior to or after the bankruptcy filing. For example, shortly after we acquired Speltz & Weis LLC, its
largest client, which accounted for approximately 82.8% of its 2004 revenues and which accounted for approx-
imately $14.5 million, or 7.0%, of our revenues in the year ended December 31, 2005, filed for bankruptcy. While
the Bankruptcy Court approved our retention, it did so subject to certain fee reductions that we negotiated with the
client and certain other interested parties. Depending on the outcome of the bankruptcy proceeding, we may not
receive the full amount of these negotiated amounts. Moreover, several parties to the bankruptcy case have re-
served their right to challenge fees earned by us and Speltz & Weis LLC prior to the bankruptcy filing on July 5,
2005. Although no such claim has been brought to date, if a claim is brought in the future, the claim could have a
material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations, earnings per share or cash flows in the
period in which such claim were resolved. Terminations of engagements, cancellations of portions of the project
plan, delays in the work schedule or reductions in fees could result from factors unrelated to our services. When
engagements are terminated or reduced, we lose the associated future revenues, and we may not be able to re-
cover associated costs or redeploy the affected employees in a timely manner to minimize the negative impact. In
addition, our clients’ ability to terminate engagements with little or no notice and without penalty makes it difficult
to predict our operating results in any particular fiscal period.

Our ability to maintain and attract new business depends upon our reputation, the professional
reputation of our consultants and the quality of our services.

As a professional services firm, our ability to secure new engagements depends heavily upon our reputation
and the individual reputations of our consultants. Any factor that diminishes our reputation or that of our con-
sultants, including not meeting client expectations or misconduct by our consultants, could make it substantially
more difficult for us to attract new engagements and clients. Similarly, because we obtain many of our new en-
gagements from former or current clients or from referrals by those clients or by law firms that we have worked
with in the past, any client that questions the quality of our work or that of our consultants could impair our ability
to secure additional new engagements and clients.
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The consulting services industry is highly competitive, and we may not be able to compete effectively.

The consulting services industry in which we operate includes a large number of participants and is intensely
competitive. We face competition from other business operations and financial consulting firms, general
management consulting firms, the consulting practices of major accounting firms, technical and economic advi-
sory firms, regional and specialty consulting firms and the internal professional resources of organizations. In
addition, because there are relatively low barriers to entry, we expect to continue to face additional competition
from new entrants into the business operations and financial consulting industries. We have six core offices and
two smaller offices in the United States and do not have any international offices. Many of our competitors have a
greater national presence and are also international in scope, as well as have significantly greater personnel, fi-
nancial, technical and marketing resources. In addition, these competitors may generate greater revenues and
have greater name recognition than we do. Our ability to compete also depends in part on the ability of our com-
petitors to hire, retain and motivate skilled consultants, the price at which others offer comparable services and
our competitors’ responsiveness to their clients. If we are unable to compete successfully with our existing com-
petitors or with any new competitors, our financial results will be adversely affected.

Additional hiring and acquisitions could disrupt our operations, increase our costs or otherwise harm our
business.

Our business strategy is dependent in part upon our ability to grow by hiring individuals or groups of con-
sultants and by potentially acquiring additional complementary businesses. However, we may be unable to identi-
fy, hire, acquire or successfully integrate new consultants and complementary businesses without substantial
expense, delay or other operational or financial problems. Competition for future hiring and acquisition oppor-
tunities in our markets could increase the compensation we offer to potential consultants or the price we pay for
businesses we wish to acquire. In addition, we may be unable to achieve the financial, operational and other
benefits we anticipate from any hiring or acquisition, including with respect to Speltz & Weis LLC. Hiring additional
consultants or acquiring complementary businesses could also involve a number of additional risks, including:

» the diversion of management’s time, attention and resources from managing and marketing our company;
e the failure to retain key acquired personnel,

e the adverse short-term effects on reported operating results from the amortization or write-off of acquired
goodwill and other intangible assets, such as described in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis—
Client Bankruptcy Case”;

e potential impairment of existing relationships with our clients, such as client satisfaction or performance
problems, whether as a result of integration or management difficulties or otherwise;

e the creation of conflicts of interest that require us to decline or resign from engagements that we other-
wise could have accepted;

< the potential need to raise significant amounts of capital to finance a transaction or the potential issuance
of equity securities that could be dilutive to our existing stockholders;

e increased costs to improve, coordinate or integrate managerial, operational, financial and administrative
systems; and

- difficulties in integrating diverse backgrounds and experiences of consultants, including if we experience a
transition period for newly hired consultants that results in a temporary drop in our utilization rates or
margins.

If we fail to successfully address these risks, our ability to compete may be impaired.

If the number of large bankruptcies declines or other factors cause a decrease in demand for our
corporate advisory services, our revenues and profitability could suffer.

Our corporate advisory services practice provides various turnaround, restructuring and bankruptcy services
to companies in financial distress or their creditors or other stakeholders. This practice accounted for 12.5% and
23.4% of our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The decrease is a result
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of the wind-up of several large bankruptcy engagements. We are typically engaged in connection with a bank-
ruptcy case when the bankruptcy is of the size and complexity that generally requires the debtor or other con-
stituents to retain the services of financial advisors. A number of other factors also affect demand for this practice.
These factors include:

e over-expansion by various businesses;
* management’s inability to address critical operational and financial issues;
» the level of lending activity and over-leveraging of companies; and

« challenging general economic conditions in the United States, which have benefited our corporate advi-
sory services practice since we commenced operations.

If the number of large bankruptcies declines or other factors cause a decrease in demand for our corporate
advisory services, the revenues from our turnaround, restructuring and bankruptcy services could decline, which
could harm our ability to sustain profitability.

The profitability of our fixed-fee engagements with clients may not meet our expectations if we
underestimate the cost of these engagements.

Fixed-fee engagements generated approximately 11.5% and 11.8% of our revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. When making proposals for fixed-fee engagements, we estimate the
costs and timing for completing the engagements. These estimates reflect our best judgment regarding the effi-
ciencies of our methodologies and consultants as we plan to deploy them on engagements. Any increased or
unexpected costs or unanticipated delays in connection with the performance of fixed-fee engagements, including
delays caused by factors outside our control, could make these contracts less profitable or unprofitable, which
would have an adverse effect on our profit margin.

Revenues from our performance-based engagements are difficult to predict, and the timing and extent of
recovery of our costs is uncertain.

From time to time, primarily in our corporate advisory services and strategic sourcing practices, we enter into
engagement agreements under which our fees include a significant performance-based component.
Performance-based fees are contingent on the achievement of specific measures, such as our clients meeting
cost-saving or other contractually defined goals. The achievement of these contractually-defined goals is often
impacted by factors outside of our control, such as the actions of our client or third parties. Because performance-
based fees are contingent, revenues on such engagements, which are recognized when all revenue recognition
criteria are met, are not certain and the timing of receipt is difficult to predict and may not occur evenly throughout
the year. While performance-based fees comprised 3.7% and 5.1% of our revenues for the years ended De-
cember 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, we intend to continue to enter into performance-based fee arrange-
ments and these engagements may impact our revenues to a greater extent in the future. Should performance-
based fee arrangements represent a greater percentage of our business in the future, we may experience
increased volatility in our working capital requirements and greater variations in our quarter-to-quarter results,
which could affect the price of our common stock. In addition, an increase in the proportion of performance-based
fee arrangements may offset the positive effect on our operating results from increases in our utilization rate or
average billing rate per hour. For example, net deferrals of $1.4 million of performance-based fees for services
rendered had the effect of reducing our average billing rate per hour for the third quarter of 2005 by $6, while net
recognition of $1.1 million of performance-based fees had the effect of increasing our average billing rate per hour
for the fourth quarter of 2005 by $5.

Conflicts of interest could preclude us from accepting engagements thereby causing decreased
utilization and revenues.

We provide services in connection with bankruptcy proceedings and litigation proceedings that usually in-
volve sensitive client information and frequently are adversarial. In connection with bankruptcy proceedings, we
are required by law to be “disinterested” and may not be able to provide multiple services to a particular client. In
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litigation we would generally be prohibited from performing services in the same litigation for the party adverse to
our client. In addition, our engagement agreement with a client or other business reasons may preclude us from
accepting engagements with our clients’ competitors or adversaries. As we increase the size of our operations,
the number of conflict situations can be expected to increase. Moreover, in many industries in which we provide
services, there has been a continuing trend toward business consolidations and strategic alliances. These con-
solidations and alliances reduce the number of companies that may seek our services and increase the chances
that we will be unable to accept new engagements as a result of conflicts of interest. If we are unable to accept
new engagements for any reason, our consultants may become underutilized, which would adversely affect our
revenues and results of operations in future periods.

Expanding our service offerings or number of offices may not be profitable.

We may choose to develop new service offerings or open new offices because of market opportunities or cli-
ent demands. Developing new service offerings involves inherent risks, including:

e our inability to estimate demand for the new service offerings;
e competition from more established market participants;
e alack of market understanding; and

e unanticipated expenses to recruit and hire qualified consultants and to market our new service offerings.

In addition, expanding into new geographic areas and/or expanding current service offerings is challenging
and may require integrating new employees into our culture as well as assessing the demand in the applicable
market. For example, in August 2003, we established a small office in Palo Alto, California to service the Silicon
Valley marketplace and, in September 2003, we established a small office in Miami, Florida to deepen our corpo-
rate finance capabilities. These offices did not meet our expectations and, therefore, we subsequently closed
those offices and incurred a restructuring charge of $2.1 million in 2004. Also in 2004, we decided to eliminate a
service offering of a practice area in our operational consulting segment that was not meeting our expectations
and incurred a restructuring charge of $1.3 million. If we cannot manage the risks associated with new service
offerings or new locations effectively, we are unlikely to be successful in these efforts, which could harm our abil-
ity to sustain profitability and our business prospects.

Our engagements could result in professional liability, which could be very costly and hurt our
reputation.

Our engagements typically involve complex analyses and the exercise of professional judgment. As a result,
we are subject to the risk of professional liability. If a client questions the quality of our work, the client could
threaten or bring a lawsuit to recover damages or contest its obligation to pay our fees. Litigation alleging that we
performed negligently or breached any other obligations to a client could expose us to significant legal liabilities
and, regardless of outcome, is often very costly, could distract our management and could damage our reputa-
tion. We are not always able to include provisions in our engagement agreements that are designed to limit our
exposure to legal claims relating to our services. Even if these limiting provisions are included in an engagement
agreement, they may not protect us or may not be enforceable under some circumstances. In addition, we carry
professional liability insurance to cover many of these types of claims, but the policy limits and the breadth of
coverage may be inadequate to cover any particular claim or all claims plus the cost of legal defense. For exam-
ple, we provide services on engagements in which the impact on a client may substantially exceed the limits of
our errors and omissions insurance coverage. If we are found to have professional liability with respect to work
performed on such an engagement, we may not have sufficient insurance to cover the entire liability.

Our intellectual property rights in our “Huron Consulting Group” name are important, and any inability to
use that name could negatively impact our ability to build brand identity.

We believe that establishing, maintaining and enhancing the “Huron Consulting Group” name is important to
our business. We are, however, aware of a number of other companies that use names containing “Huron.” There
could be potential trade name or service mark infringement claims brought against us by the users of these sim-
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ilar names and marks and those users may have trade name or service mark rights that are senior to ours. If an-
other company were to successfully challenge our right to use our name, or if we were unable to prevent a com-
petitor from using a name that is similar to our name, our ability to build brand identity could be negatively
impacted.

We or some of our consultants could be named in lawsuits because we were founded by former Arthur
Andersen LLP partners and professionals and contracted with Arthur Andersen for releases from
non-competition agreements.

We were founded by a core group of consultants that consisted primarily of former Arthur Andersen LLP part-
ners and professionals, and we entered into a contract with Arthur Andersen to release these partners and
professionals from non-competition agreements with Arthur Andersen. These circumstances might lead creditors
of Arthur Andersen and other parties to bring claims against us or some of our managing directors or other con-
sultants seeking recoveries for liabilities of Arthur Andersen and we may not be able to successfully avoid liability
for such claims. In addition, litigation of this nature or otherwise could divert the time and attention of our manag-
ing directors and consultants, and we could incur substantial defense costs.

As a holding company, we are totally dependent on distributions from our operating subsidiaries to pay
dividends or other obligations and there may also be other restrictions on our ability to pay dividends in
the future.

We are a holding company with no business operations. Our only significant asset is the outstanding equity
interests of our wholly-owned operating subsidiaries. As a result, we must rely on payments from our subsidiaries
to meet our obligations. We currently expect that the earnings and cash flow of our subsidiaries will primarily be
retained and used by them in their operations, including servicing any debt obligations they may have now or in
the future. Accordingly, although we do not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable future, our sub-
sidiaries may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow to distribute funds to us in order to allow us to pay future
dividends on, or make any distribution with respect to, our common stock. Our future credit facilities, other future
debt obligations and statutory provisions may also limit our ability to pay dividends or make any distribution in re-
spect of our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

Our principal executive offices are located in Chicago, lllinois, consisting of approximately 83,000 square feet
of office space, under a lease that expires in September 2014. We have two five-year renewal options under the
lease that will allow us to continue to occupy this office space until September 2024. This facility accommodates
our executive team and corporate departments, as well as consultants in each of our practices. We also have a
core office located in New York City, New York, consisting of approximately 57,000 square feet of office space,
under a lease that expires in July 2016, with a one five-year renewal option. Additionally, we also occupy leased
facilities for our four other core offices located in Boston, Houston, San Francisco and Washington, D.C., as well
as smaller offices located in Charlotte and Los Angeles. We do not own any real property. We believe that our
leased facilities are adequate to meet our current needs and that additional facilities are available for lease to
meet future needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of busi-
ness. As of the date of this annual report on Form 10-K, we are not a party to or threatened with any litigation or
other legal proceeding that, in our opinion, could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results
or financial condition.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2005.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Market Information

Trading in Huron’s common stock commenced on the NASDAQ National Market on October 13, 2004, under
the symbol “HURN.” The following table sets forth, on a per share basis and for the period indicated, the high and
low closing sales prices for Huron’s common stock as reported by the NASDAQ National Market.

High Low

2004:

Fourth Quarter (from October 13,2004) ...........cc .. $23.95 $18.90
2005:

First QUatEr ..o e $25.56 $19.76

Second QUANET . . ... it $25.25 $19.46

Third QUANEr .. ... $28.30 $23.10

Fourth QUAMET . . .. . e e $28.40 $23.45

Holders

As of February 10, 2006, there were 63 holders of record of Huron’s common stock.

Dividend Policy

On May 12, 2004, we declared a special dividend on each outstanding share of our common stock and 8%
preferred stock payable to holders of record on May 25, 2004. We paid the special dividend on June 29, 2004.
The 8% preferred stock participated on an as converted basis. The aggregate amount of the dividend was $1.25
million, or $0.09 per share of common stock and $9.64 per share of 8% preferred stock. The payment of the spe-
cial dividend was funded by our available cash balance and by borrowing availability under our credit agreement,
which we repaid the following day. Other than the special dividend, we have not declared or paid any dividends on
our common stock since our inception and do not intend to pay any dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. We currently expect that we will retain our future earnings, if any, for use in the operation and
expansion of our business. Future cash dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will
depend upon, among other things, our future operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general
financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors the board of directors may deem relevant. In addition,
our bank credit agreement restricts dividends by requiring $45 million of permanent equity capital, which is de-
fined as the sum of paid-in capital and net income less any distributions.

Our 2004 Omnibus Stock Plan permits the netting of common stock upon vesting of restricted stock awards
to satisfy individual tax withholding requirements. During the year ended December 31, 2005, we redeemed
56,145 shares of common stock with a weighted-average fair market value of $24.16 as a result of such tax with-
holdings as presented in the table below.

Total Number of Weighted- Total Number of Maximum Number
Shares Redeemed  Average Fair Shares Purchased as of Shares that May
to Satisfy Employee Market Value Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased

Tax Withholding Per Share Announced Plans or  Under the Plans or
Period Requirements Redeemed Programs Programs
October 1, 2005 — October 31, 2005 ... .. 55,224 $24.12 N/A N/A
November 1, 2005 — November 30,
2005 ... 921 $26.84 N/A N/A

Total . ... 56,145 $24.16 &A N_/A

N/A — Not applicable.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

We have derived the following selected consolidated financial data as of and for the years ended De-
cember 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, and as of the end of and for the period from March 19, 2002 (inception) to
December 31, 2002 from our audited consolidated financial statements. The consolidated statements of oper-
ations and other operating data for the year ended December 31, 2005 include the results of operations and other
operating data of Speltz & Weis LLC since May 9, 2005, its date of acquisition. The information set forth below is
not necessarily indicative of the results of future operations and should be read in conjunction with
“Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations” and the consolidated fi-
nancial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.

March 19, 2002

Year Ended December 31, (inception) to

Consolidated statements of operations data

(in thousands, except per share and other operating data): 2005 2004 2003 December 31, 2002

Revenues and reimbursable expenses:

ReVeNUES .. .. $207,213 $159,550 $101,486 $35,101

Reimbursable expenses .. ......... ... i 18,749 14,361 8,808 2,921
Total revenues and reimbursable expenses ............. 225,962 173,911 110,294 38,022

Direct costs and reimbursable expenses (exclusive of
depreciation and amortization shown in operating
expenses) (1):

DIreCt COSES .ot t 112,721 92,270 69,374 26,055
Stock-based compensation ........... .. 5,047 978 27 —
Intangible assets amortization ............ ... ... .. .. .. ... 1,314 — — —
Reimbursable expenses .. ....... ... .. i 18,982 14,281 8,929 2,921
Total direct costs and reimbursable expenses ........... 138,064 107,529 78,330 28,976
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative ........................ 49,139 40,425 25,171 8,813
Stock-based compensation ......... .o 1,896 433 14 —
Depreciation and amortization ........... ... ... ... ... ..... 5,282 2,365 5,328 3,048
Restructuring charges ....... ... .. — 3,475 — —
Management and advisory fees paid to related parties ........ — — — 2,750
Loss on lease abandonment ............ ... ... ... — — 1,668 —
Organization COStS . ... ..ot — — — 965
Total operating eXpenses . ...........ovririinnnnen... 56,317 46,698 32,181 15,576
Operating income (I0SS) . ... 31,581 19,684 (217) (6,530)
Other (income) expense:
Interest (income) expense, Net . ..., (472) 692 856 332
Other eXPeNSE . ..o 37 — 112 1
Total other (income) expense . ........... ... ..., (435) 692 968 333
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes . ... .. 32,016 18,992 (1,185) (6,863)
Provision (benefit) forincome taxes ....................... 14,247 8,128 (122) (2,697)
Netincome (I0SS) . ..ot 17,769 10,864 (1,063) (4,166)
Accrued dividends on 8% preferred stock . . ................. — 931 1,066 646
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders . ...... $ 17,769 $ 9,933 $ (2,129) $(4,812)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders per
share (2):
BasiC . ... $ 113 $% 077 $ (0.18) $ (0.41)
Diluted . ... $ 105% 072 % (0.18) $ (0.41)

Weighted average shares used in calculating net income (loss)
attributable to common stockholders per share (2):

BaSIC . . o 15,741 12,820 11,871 11,803
Diluted . ... ... 16,858 13,765 11,871 11,803
Cash dividend per commonshare (3) ...................... $ — $ 009 % — $ —
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March 19, 2002
(inception) to

Year Ended December 31,

Other operating data (unaudited): 2005 2004 2003 December 31, 2002
Number of consultants (at end of period) (4) . .............. 632 483 477 262
Average number of consultants (for the period) ............ 564 485 361 247
Utilizationrate (5) . ...t 76.5% 72.2% 66.1% 57.3%
Average billing rate perhour (6) . ........................ $ 249 $ 239 $ 217 $ 206
As of December 31,
Consolidated balance sheet data (in thousands): 2005 2004 2003 2002
Cashandcashequivalents . ............................ $ 31,820 $28,092 $ 4,251 $ 4,449
Working capital ............ ... .. $ 52,272 $42,898 $10,159 $ 9,780
Total @SSetS . ..ot $129,699 $83,219 $39,889 $26,583
Long-termdebt (7) ... ... i $ 2127 $ — $10,076 $10,076
Total 8% preferred stock (8) . ... $ —  $ — $14,212 $13,146
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) ....................... $ 75,532 $49,233 $(6,624) $(4,543)

(1) Intangible assets amortization relating to customer contracts is presented as a component of total direct
costs. Depreciation, amortization of leasehold improvements and amortization of intangible assets relating to
customer relationships are presented as a component of operating expenses.

(2) Adjusted for a 1 for 2.3 reverse stock split effected on October 5, 2004.

(3) On May 12, 2004, we declared a special dividend on each outstanding share of our common stock and 8%
preferred stock payable to holders of record on May 25, 2004. We paid the special dividend on June 29,
2004. The 8% preferred stock participated on an as converted basis. The aggregate amount of the dividend
was $1.25 million, or $0.09 per share of common stock and $9.64 per share of 8% preferred stock. Other
than the special dividend, we have not declared or paid any dividends on our common stock since our in-
ception and do not intend to pay any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

(4) Consultants consist of our billable professionals, excluding interns and independent contractors.

(5) We calculate the utilization rate for our consultants by dividing the number of hours all of our consultants
worked on client assignments during a period by the total available working hours for all of our consultants
during the same period, assuming a forty-hour work week, less paid holidays and vacation days.

(6) Average billing rate per hour is calculated by dividing revenues for a period by the number of hours worked
on client assignments during the same period.

(7) Consists of notes payable issued in connection with the acquisition of Speltz & Weis LLC and capital lease
obligations, net of current portions, at December 31, 2005. Consists of 8% promissory notes at December 31,
2003 and 2002.

(8) On October 18, 2004, we used $15.1 million of the proceeds of the initial public offering to redeem all of the
outstanding 8% preferred stock, plus cumulative dividends and a liquidation participation amount totaling
$2.6 million.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS.

OVERVIEW

We are an independent provider of financial and operational consulting services. We commenced operations
in May 2002 with a core group of experienced financial and operational consultants, composed primarily of former
Arthur Andersen LLP partners and professionals. We have grown significantly since we commenced operations,
nearly tripling the number of our consultants from 213 on May 31, 2002 to 632 as of December 31, 2005. In re-
sponse to strong demand for our services, we began aggressively hiring consultants in the first quarter of 2003
and added over 200 new consultants during 2003. While this aggressive hiring reduced our 2003 utilization rate
(determined by dividing the number of hours all of our consultants worked on client assignments during a period
by the total available working hours for all of our consultants during the same period, assuming a forty-hour work
week, less paid holidays and vacation days) as we integrated our new hires, we believe the early results of this
growth initiative are evident in our financial results. Revenues in 2002 totaled $35.1 million for our first eight
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months of operations and rose to $101.5 million in 2003, our first full year of operations. Revenues in 2004 totaled
$159.6 million, a 57.2% increase from 2003. Revenues in 2005 totaled $207.2, a 29.9% increase from 2004.

We provide our services through two segments: Financial Consulting and Operational Consulting. Our Finan-
cial Consulting segment provides services that help clients effectively address complex challenges that arise from
litigation, disputes, investigations, regulation, financial distress and other sources of significant conflict or change.
Our Operational Consulting segment provides services that help clients improve the overall efficiency and effec-
tiveness of their operations, reduce costs, manage regulatory compliance and maximize procurement efficiency.

Revenues

We derive all of our revenues from providing financial and operational consulting services through three princi-
pal types of billing arrangements consisting of time-and-expense, fixed-fee and performance-based. We manage
our business on the basis of revenues before reimbursable expenses. We believe this is the most accurate re-
flection of our consulting services because it eliminates the effect of reimbursable expenses that we bill to our cli-
ents at cost.

Since our inception, most of our revenues have been generated from time-and-expense engagements. In
time-and-expense engagements, fees are based on the hours incurred at agreed upon billing rates.
Time-and-expense engagements represented approximately 84.8% and 83.1% of our revenues in 2005 and
2004, respectively.

In fixed-fee engagements, we agree to a pre-established fee in exchange for a pre-determined set of consult-
ing services. We set the fees based on our estimates of the costs and timing for completing the fixed-fee
engagements. It is the client’s expectation in these engagements that the pre-established fee will not be ex-
ceeded except in mutually agreed upon circumstances. For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
fixed-fee engagements represented approximately 11.5% and 11.8%, respectively, of our revenues.

Performance-based fee engagements generally tie fees to the attainment of contractually defined objectives.
We enter into performance-based engagements in essentially two forms. First, we generally earn fees that are
directly related to the savings formally acknowledged by the client as a result of adopting our recommendations
for improving cost effectiveness in the procurement area. Second, we have performance-based engagements in
which we earn a success fee when and if certain pre-defined outcomes occur. Often this type of success fee sup-
plements time-and-expense or fixed-fee engagements. For example, our revenues for the second quarter of 2004
included a $1.6 million success fee earned on a time-and-expense engagement that included a performance-
based component related to the completion of a series of asset sales transactions managed on behalf of a single
financial consulting segment client over a two-year period. While performance-based fee revenues represented
approximately 3.7% and 5.1% of our revenues in 2005 and 2004, respectively, such revenues in the future may
cause significant variations in quarterly revenues and operating results due to the timing of achieving the
performance-based criteria.

Our quarterly results are impacted principally by our utilization rate, the number of business days in each
quarter and the number of our consultants who are available to work. Our utilization rate can be negatively af-
fected by increased hiring because there is generally a transition period for new consultants that results in a tem-
porary drop in our utilization rate. Our utilization rate can also be affected by seasonal variations in the demand
for our services from our clients. For example, during the third and fourth quarters of the year, vacations taken by
our clients can result in the deferral of spending on existing and new engagements, which would negatively affect
our utilization rate. The number of business work days are also affected by the number of vacation days taken by
our consultants and holidays in each quarter. We typically have 10% to 15% fewer business work days available
in the third and fourth quarters of the year, which can impact revenues during those periods.

Reimbursable expenses

Reimbursable expenses that are billed to clients, primarily relating to travel and out-of-pocket expenses in-
curred in connection with engagements, are included in total revenues and reimbursable expenses, and typically
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an equivalent amount of these expenses are included in total direct costs and reimbursable expenses. The
amount of reimbursable expenses included in total revenues and reimbursable expenses may not always corre-
spond with the amount of these expenses included in total direct costs and reimbursable expenses due to the fact
that revenues from reimbursable expenses associated with performance-based engagements may be deferred
and recognized at a later date when the revenue on these engagements is recognized. This treatment can result
in a timing difference between when revenue from reimbursable expenses is recognized and when such ex-
penses are recognized in the statement of operations. Such timing differences are eliminated when the
performance-based engagement is completed, as total cumulative revenues from reimbursable expenses will
equal the total cumulative reimbursable expenses incurred on the engagement.

Total direct costs

Our most significant expenses are costs classified as total direct costs. These total direct costs primarily in-
clude direct costs consisting of salaries, performance bonuses, payroll taxes and benefits for consultants, as well
as fees paid to independent subcontractors that we retain to supplement consulting personnel, typically on an as
needed basis for specific client engagements.

Total direct costs also include stock-based compensation, which represents the cost of stock option and re-
stricted stock awards granted to our consultants. Compensation for stock-based awards is amortized on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, which is generally four years. As a result of the granting of restricted
common stock awards and anticipated future awards, stock-based compensation expense will increase in the fu-
ture. Total direct costs also include intangible assets amortization relating to customer contracts.

Operating expenses

Our operating expenses include selling, general and administrative expenses, which consist primarily of sal-
aries, performance bonuses, payroll taxes and benefits for non-billable professionals. Also included in this cat-
egory are other sales and marketing related expenses, rent and other office related expenses, and professional
fees. Other operating expenses include certain depreciation and amortization expenses not included in total direct
costs and stock-based compensation, which represents the cost of stock option and restricted stock awards
granted to our non-billable professionals. Compensation for stock-based awards is amortized on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, which is generally four years. As a result of the granting of restricted common stock
awards and anticipated future awards, stock-based compensation expense will increase in the future.

Segment results

Segment operating income consists of the revenues generated by a segment, less the direct costs of rev-
enue and selling, general and administrative costs that are incurred directly by the segment. Unallocated corpo-
rate costs include costs related to administrative functions that are performed in a centralized manner that are not
attributable to a particular segment. These administrative function costs include corporate office support costs, all
office facility costs, costs relating to accounting and finance, human resources, legal, marketing, information tech-
nology and company-wide business development functions, as well as costs related to overall corporate
management.

Beginning January 1, 2005, the forensic technology and discovery services group was moved from the Finan-
cial Consulting segment to the Operational Consulting segment to improve marketing synergies with the legal
business consulting practice. Previously reported segment information has been reclassified to reflect this
change.

INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

On October 18, 2004, we completed our initial public offering. In the initial public offering, we sold 3,333,333
shares of common stock and a selling stockholder, HCG Holdings LLC, sold 1,666,667 shares of common stock
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at an offering price of $15.50 per share. On October 22, 2004, the underwriters exercised in full their over-
allotment option to purchase an additional 750,000 shares of common stock from the selling stockholder. The ini-
tial public offering generated gross proceeds to us of $51.7 million, or $48.0 million net of underwriting discounts.
We did not receive any proceeds from the shares sold by the selling stockholder. On October 18, 2004, we used
$15.1 million of the net proceeds to redeem the outstanding 8% preferred stock, including cumulative dividends
and a liquidation participation amount totaling $2.6 million. Also on October 18, 2004, the Company used

$10.7 million of the net proceeds to repay the notes payable to HCG Holdings LLC, including accrued and unpaid
interest of $0.6 million. The costs associated with the initial public offering, which totaled $3.3 million, were paid
from the proceeds. On May 9, 2005, we used a portion of the remaining net proceeds from the initial public offer-
ing to pay the cash portion of the purchase price for our acquisition of Speltz & Weis LLC. We are using the re-
maining initial public offering proceeds for general corporate purposes, including working capital and potential
business acquisitions.

ACQUISITION OF SPELTZ & WEIS LLC

On May 9, 2005, Huron Consulting Group, Inc. acquired 100% of the outstanding membership interests of
Speltz & Weis LLC, a specialized consulting firm that consisted of 26 consultants. With the acquisition of Speltz &
Weis LLC, our Financial Consulting segment can provide interim management, organizational renewal and turn-
around services and other crisis management services to distressed hospitals and other healthcare facilities.

The aggregate purchase price of the acquisition was $17.2 million, which consisted of $14.0 million cash paid
at closing, notes payable totaling $3.0 million payable in three equal annual installments of $1.0 million (together
with accrued interest at 4% per annum) beginning on May 8, 2006, and $0.2 million of transaction costs. Addi-
tional purchase consideration may be payable based on the performance of Speltz & Weis LLC during the three-
year period beginning June 1, 2005 and ending May 30, 2008. Also, additional payments may be made based on
the amount of revenues we receive from certain referrals made by Speltz & Weis LLC employees. The acquisition
has been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting and the results of Speltz & Weis’ operations
have been included within the Financial Consulting segment in our consolidated financial statements since the
date of the acquisition.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States, or GAAP. The notes to our consolidated financial statements include disclosure of
our significant accounting policies. We review our financial reporting and disclosure practices and accounting
policies to ensure that our financial reporting and disclosures provide accurate information relative to the current
economic and business environment. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to make assessments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, as well as
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Critical accounting policies are those
policies that we believe present the most complex or subjective measurements and have the most potential to
impact our financial position and operating results. While all decisions regarding accounting policies are important,
we believe that there are six accounting policies that could be considered critical. These critical policies relate to
revenue recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts and unbilled services, carrying values of goodwill and other
intangible assets, valuation of net deferred tax assets and stock-based compensation.

Revenue recognition

We recognize revenues in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin, or SAB, No. 101, “Revenue Recognition
in Financial Statements,” as amended by SAB No. 104, “Revenue Recognition.” Revenue is recognized when
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the related services are provided, the price is fixed and determi-
nable and collectibility is reasonably assured. Our services are primarily rendered under engagements that re-
quire the client to pay on a time-and-expense basis. Fees are based on the hours incurred at agreed-upon rates
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and recognized as services are provided. Revenues related to fixed-fee engagements are recognized based on
estimates of work completed versus the total services to be provided under the engagement. Losses, if any, on
fixed-fee engagements are recognized in the period in which the loss first becomes probable and reasonably es-
timable. To date, such losses have not been significant. Revenues related to performance-based engagements
are recognized when all performance-based criteria are met. We also have contracts with clients to deliver multi-
ple services that are covered under both individual and separate engagement letters. These arrangements allow
for our services to be valued and accounted for on a separate basis. Reimbursable expenses related to
time-and-expense and fixed-fee engagements are recognized as revenue in the period in which the expense is
incurred. Reimbursable expenses subject to performance-based criteria are recognized as revenue when all per-
formance criteria are met. Direct costs incurred on all types of engagements, including performance-based en-
gagements, are recognized in the period in which incurred.

Differences between the timing of billings and the recognition of revenue are recognized as either unbilled
services or deferred revenue. Revenues recognized for services performed but not yet billed to clients are re-
corded as unbilled services. Amounts billed to clients but not yet recognized as revenues are recorded as de-
ferred revenue. Client prepayments and retainers that are unearned are also classified as deferred revenue and
recognized over future periods as earned in accordance with the applicable engagement agreement.

Allowances for doubtful accounts and unbilled services

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts and for services performed but not yet billed for estimated
losses based on several factors, including the historical percentages of fee adjustments and write-offs by practice
group, an assessment of a client’s ability to make required payments and the estimated cash realization from
amounts due from clients. The allowances are assessed by management on a regular basis. If the financial con-
dition of a client deteriorates in the future, impacting the client’s ability to make payments, an increase to our
allowances might be required or our allowances may not be sufficient to cover actual write-offs.

The provision for doubtful accounts and unbilled services is recorded as a reduction in revenue to the extent
the provision relates to fee adjustments and other discretionary pricing adjustments. To the extent the provision
relates to a client’s inability to make required payments on accounts receivables, the provision is recorded in
operating expenses.

Carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets

Gooduwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired entity over the net of the amounts assigned to as-
sets acquired and liabilities assumed. Our goodwill balance as of December 31, 2005 was $14.6 million, which
resulted from the acquisition of Speltz & Weis LLC in the second quarter of 2005. Under the provisions of State-
ment of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill is
required to be tested for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests whenever indications of
impairment exist. We have elected and will begin to perform this annual impairment test in the second quarter of
2006 or earlier if indications of impairment arise, such as loss of key personnel, unanticipated competition, or
other unforeseen developments. Impairment exists when the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair
value, resulting in an impairment charge for this excess. An impairment test involves considerable management
judgment and estimates regarding future operating results and cash flows.

Intangible assets represent purchased assets that lack physical substance but can be distinguished from
goodwill. Our intangible assets balances, net of accumulated amortization, totaled $0.8 million at December 31,
2005 and primarily consist of customer contracts and relationships relating to the Speltz & Weis LLC acquisition,
as well as purchased technology. We obtained a third party valuation to assist us in estimating the initial fair value
of intangible assets acquired through the Speltz & Weis LLC acquisition. These valuations are primarily based on
the present value of the estimated net cash flows expected to be derived from the client contracts and relation-
ships, discounted for assumptions about future customer attrition. We evaluate our intangible assets for impair-
ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be
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recoverable. Therefore, higher or earlier-than-expected customer attrition may result in higher future amortization
charges or an impairment charge for customer-related intangible assets. For example, during the third quarter of
2005, we wrote off a portion of the intangible assets pertaining to a customer contract as described in “Client
Bankruptcy Case” below.

Valuation of net deferred tax assets

We have recorded net deferred tax assets as we expect to realize future tax benefits related to the utilization
of these assets. Although we experienced net losses early in our history, no valuation allowance has been re-
corded relating to these deferred tax assets because we believe that it is more likely than not that future taxable
income will be sufficient to allow us to utilize these assets. Should we determine in the future that we will not be
able to fully utilize all or part of these deferred tax assets, we would need to establish a valuation allowance,
which would be recorded as a charge to income in the period the determination was made. While utilization of
these deferred tax assets will provide future cash flow benefits, they will not have an effect on future income tax
provisions.

Stock-based compensation

The accounting for stock-based compensation is complex, and under certain circumstances, GAAP allows for
alternative methods. As permitted, we account for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method
prescribed in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (“APB 25), “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,”
and related interpretations and have elected the disclosure option of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation.” SFAS No. 123 requires that companies either recognize compensation expense for grants of
stock, stock options and other equity instruments based on fair value, or provide pro forma disclosure of net in-
come and earnings per share in the notes to the financial statements. Accordingly, we have measured compensa-
tion expense for stock options that we have granted to employees as the excess, if any, of the estimated fair
value of our common stock at the date of grant over the exercise price. The calculated stock-based compensation
is included as a component of stockholders’ equity and is amortized on a straight-line basis by charges to earn-
ings over the vesting period of the applicable options.

Given the lack of a public market for our common stock prior to our initial public offering, we established an
estimated fair value of the common stock as well as the exercise price for the options to purchase this stock. We
estimated the fair value of our common stock by evaluating our results of business activities and projections of our
future results of operations. See “Recent Accounting Pronouncements” below.

25




RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth selected segment and consolidated operating results and other operating data

for the periods indicated.

Segment and Consolidated Operating Results
(in thousands):

Revenues and reimbursable expenses:

Financial Consulting ........... ... ... ... .....
Operational Consulting .......................

Totalrevenues ............ .. ...
Total reimbursable expenses . .................

Total revenues and reimbursable expenses

Operating income (loss):

Financial Consulting ........... .. .. ... .. ....
Operational Consulting . ......................

Total segment operating income ............

Unallocated corporate costs ...................
Depreciation and amortization expense ..........
Other operating expenses . .. ..................

Total operating expenses .................
Operatingincome (loss) . ....................

Other Operating Data:

Number of consultants (at period end) (1):

Financial Consulting . .....................
Operational Consulting ...................

Average number of consultants (for the period):
Financial Consulting .. ....................
Operational Consulting ...................

Utilization rate (2):

Financial Consulting .. ....................
Operational Consulting ...................
Total . ...

Average billing rate per hour (3):

Financial Consulting .. ....................
Operational Consulting ...................
Total . ...

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
....................... $118,178 $ 92,378 $ 68,028
....................... 89,035 67,172 33,458
....................... 207,213 159,550 101,486
....................... 18,749 14,361 8,808
....................... $225,962 $173,911 $110,294
....................... $ 46,676 $ 34,365 $ 20,601
....................... 31,680 23,009 6,793
....................... 78,356 57,374 27,394
....................... 39,597 31,417 20,601
....................... 5,282 2,365 5,328
....................... 1,896 3,908 1,682
....................... 46,775 37,690 27,611
....................... $ 31,581 $ 19684 $ (217)
....................... 306 269 285
....................... 326 214 192
....................... 632 483 477
....................... 286 279 219
....................... 278 206 142
....................... 564 485 361
....................... 79.9%  716%  66.6%
....................... 73.1%  73.0%  65.3%
....................... 76.5%  72.2%  66.1%
....................... $ 275 $ 257 $ 233
....................... $ 222 $ 218 $ 191
....................... $ 249 $ 239 $ 217

(1) Consultants consist of our billable professionals, excluding interns and independent contractors.

(2) We calculate the utilization rate for our consultants by dividing the number of hours all our consultants
worked on client assignments during a period by the total available working hours for all of our consultants
during the same period, assuming a forty-hour work week, less paid holidays and vacation days.

(3) Average billing rate per hour is calculated by dividing revenues for a period by the number of hours worked

on client assignments during the same period.
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Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004

Revenues

Revenues increased $47.6 million, or 29.9%, to $207.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from
$159.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005 included
$9.8 million of revenues generated by Speltz &Weis LLC. Revenues from time-and-expense engagements in-
creased $43.3 million, or 32.7%, to $175.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $132.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004. Revenues from fixed-fee engagements increased $5.0 million, or 26.6%, to
$23.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $18.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.
Revenues from performance-based engagements decreased $0.7 million, or 8.5%, to $7.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005 from $8.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Of the overall $47.6 million increase in revenues, $27.4 million was attributable to an increase in the number
of consultants and increased usage of independent contractors, $10.8 million was attributable to an increase in
the utilization rate of our consultants, and $9.4 million was attributable to an increase in the average billing rate
per hour. These increases were reflective of growing demand for our services from new and existing clients. The
average number of consultants increased to 564 for the year ended December 31, 2005 from 485 for the year
ended December 31, 2004, as we added a substantial number of consultants in our Operational Consulting seg-
ment. The increase in consultants was also reflective of the Speltz &Weis LLC acquisition. Revenues generated
by independent contractors increased $2.9 million, or 138.1%, to $5.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2005 from $2.1 million for the same period last year. Our utilization rate increased to 76.5% for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from 72.2% for the same period last year. The utilization rate for any given period is calcu-
lated by dividing the number of hours all our consultants worked on client assignments during the period by the
total available working hours for all of our consultants during the same period, assuming a forty-hour work week,
less paid holidays and vacation days. Additionally, our average billing rate per hour increased 4.2% to $249 for
the year ended December 31, 2005 from $239 for the year ended December 31, 2004. Average billing rate per
hour for any given period is calculated by dividing revenues for the period by the number of hours worked on cli-
ent assignments during the same period.

Total direct costs

Our direct costs increased $20.4 million, or 22.2%, to $112.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2005
from $92.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase was primarily attributable to the increase
in the average number of consultants described above and their related compensation and benefit costs, in-
creased usage of independent contractors, as well as a $1.8 million increase in retention and signing bonuses.

Stock-based compensation expense relating to our consultants increased to $5.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from $1.0 million for the same period last year due to the granting of restricted stock awards.
On October 12, 2004, immediately prior to our initial public offering, we granted to our consultants a total of
489,500 shares of restricted common stock with an aggregate fair market value of $7.6 million. During 2005, we
granted to our consultants an additional 558,100 shares of restricted common stock with an aggregate fair market
value of $12.2 million.

Total direct costs in the year ended December 31, 2005 included $1.3 million of intangible assets amor-
tization expense relating to purchased technology valued at $0.5 million, as well as customer contracts valued at
$1.9 million that were acquired as part of the Speltz &Weis LLC acquisition.

Operating expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $8.7 million, or 21.6%, to $49.1 million in the year
ended December 31, 2005 from $40.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase was due in
part to an increase in the average number of non-billable professionals to 136 for the year ended December 31,
2005 from 112 for the year ended December 31, 2004 and their related compensation and benefit costs of
$20.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to $16.5 million in 2004. We added a number of
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non-billable professionals during the past year to continue to support a public company infrastructure. The
remaining increase in selling, general and administrative costs in the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to
year ended 2004 was due to increases in recruiting costs, promotion and marketing costs, rent and other facility
costs, legal fees, and new costs associated with being a public company, including Sarbanes- Oxley compliance.
Additionally, during 2005 in connection with a secondary offering that was withdrawn in November 2005 and a
secondary offering that was completed in February 2006, we incurred costs totaling $0.5 million after tax, or $0.03
per diluted share. These costs were expensed in the period incurred because we did not issue securities in either
offering. These increases in selling, general and administrative expenses during 2005 were slightly offset by a
$1.5 million decrease in severance charges as compared to 2004.

Stock-based compensation expense relating to our non-billable professionals increased $1.5 million, or
337.9%, to $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $0.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2004 due to the granting of restricted stock awards. On October 12, 2004, immediately prior to our initial public
offering, we granted to our non-billable professionals a total of 278,200 shares of restricted common stock with an
aggregate fair market value of $4.3 million. During 2005, we granted to our non-billable professionals an addi-
tional 179,100 shares of restricted common stock with an aggregate fair market value of $4.1 million.

Depreciation expense increased $2.0 million, or 83.3%, to $4.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2005
from $2.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2004 as computers, network equipment, furniture and fixtures,
and leasehold improvements were added to support our increase in employees. In the year ended December 31,
2005, we recognized $0.9 million of intangible assets amortization. In conjunction with the Speltz & Weis LLC
acquisition, we recorded $0.7 million of intangible assets representing customer relationships, which is being
amortized over a weighted-average life of 15.1 months. Also included in amortization expense in the year ended
December 31, 2005 is a $0.6 million charge representing the write off of an intangible asset relating to a Speltz &
Weis LLC customer contract, as described in “Client Bankruptcy Case” below.

Operating expenses in the year ended December 31, 2004 also included a $2.1 million pre-tax restructuring
charge associated with the closing of two small, underperforming offices in Miami, Florida and Palo Alto, Cal-
ifornia. The charge consisted of approximately $2.0 million for severance payments for the ten employees for-
merly employed at these locations, which were paid by April 30, 2004, and $0.1 million for office lease payments,
which were paid by August 31, 2004. Additionally, during 2004 we eliminated a service offering in a practice area
in the Operational Consulting segment that was not meeting our expectations and we recorded a pre-tax re-
structuring charge of $1.3 million.

Operating income

Operating income increased $11.9 million, or 60.4%, to $31.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005
from $19.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase in operating income was primarily due to
the increase in revenues and the absence of restructuring charges, partially offset by the increases in direct costs
and operating expenses as discussed above. Operating margin, which is defined as operating income expressed
as a percentage of revenues, was 15.2% in the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 12.3% in the year
ended December 31, 2004. As described in “Client Bankruptcy Case” below, one of our clients filed for bankruptcy
in 2005. As a result, new financial terms and conditions, including billing terms and rates for our services, were
negotiated pursuant to a new engagement contract. These new terms will have a negative impact on our operat-
ing margins in 2006.

Due to the factors listed below, we expect our direct costs and operating expenses to increase in 2006 as
compared to 2005.

« Between April 1, 2005 and December 31, 2005, we increased our headcount by 140 employees, repre-
senting a 22% increase from March 31, 2005, to address continued demand for our services. The ma-
jority of our headcount growth was experienced in our Operational Consulting segment.

e During 2005, we increased the number of our managing directors who are consultants from 56 at
December 31, 2004 to 75 at December 31, 2005. In addition, in January 2006, we promoted 11 of our
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employees to the managing director level, compared to 3 in January 2005. During 2006, we expect to
continue to hire additional managing directors. We anticipate that some of these managing directors will
initially focus their time on sales efforts during the first part of 2006 and may not be fully productive until
later in 2006.

e In 2006, we expect to hire additional managers, associates and analysts to expand support for our exist-
ing practices and better leverage our managing directors and directors.

» During the third and fourth quarters of 2005, we entered into new lease agreements for two of our offices,
including one in New York City.

As a result of the costs associated with these factors, combined with anticipated ongoing growth in our busi-
ness activity and the reduced billing rates at a client who filed for bankruptcy as described in “Client Bankruptcy
Case” below, we expect our operating margin for the first quarter of 2006 to be lower than the 17.6% operating
margin we experienced in the first quarter of 2005, as we absorb these costs during the first part of 2006. Al-
though we expect operating margins to increase over the remainder of the year as we fully integrate our new hires
and leverage the lease investments we made in the second half of 2005, there can be no assurance that our ex-
pectations will be met and therefore our operating margins may be less than we expect.

Net income attributable to common stockholders

Net income attributable to common stockholders increased $7.9 million, or 78.9%, to $17.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2005 from $9.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Diluted earnings per
share increased 45.8% to $1.05 for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $0.72 for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2004. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in net income, partially offset by an in-
crease in weighted-average shares resulting from our initial public offering. Speltz & Weis LLC’s operations, which
included the negative impact of the charges described in “Client Bankruptcy Case” below, had the effect of re-
ducing our diluted earnings per share by $0.10 during the year ended December 31, 2005.

Segment results
Financial Consulting
Revenues

Financial Consulting segment revenues, which includes revenues generated by Speltz & Weis LLC since the
date of the acquisition, increased $25.8 million, or 27.9%, to $118.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005
from $92.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Revenues from time-and-expense engagements in-
creased $28.9 million, or 34.1%, to $113.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $84.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004. Revenues from fixed-fee engagements decreased $1.4 million, or 23.3%, to
$4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.
There were no revenues from performance-based engagements for the year ended December 31, 2005 as com-
pared to $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, which primarily consisted of fees recognized relating
to the successful completion of a series of asset sales transactions managed on behalf of a single client over a
two-year period.

Of the overall $25.8 million increase in revenues, $10.7 million was attributable to an increase in the uti-
lization rate of our consultants, $7.9 million was attributable to an increase in the average billing rate per hour,
and $7.2 million was attributable to an increase in the number of consultants and an increase in the usage of in-
dependent contractors. These increases were reflective of growing demand for our services from new and exist-
ing clients. The Financial Consulting segment’s utilization rate increased to 79.9% for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from 71.6% for the year ended December 31, 2004. The average billing rate per hour in-
creased 7.0% to $275 for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $257 for the year ended December 31, 2004.
Independent contractor revenues increased to $2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $0.2 mil-
lion for 2004.

29




Operating income

Financial Consulting segment operating income increased $12.3 million, or 35.8%, to $46.7 million in the year
ended December 31, 2005 from $34.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2004. Segment operating margin,
defined as segment operating income expressed as a percentage of segment revenues, increased to 39.5% in
the year ended December 31, 2005 from 37.2% in the year ended December 31, 2004.

Operational Consulting
Revenues

Operational Consulting segment revenues increased $21.8 million, or 32.5%, to $89.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005 from $67.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Revenues from
time-and-expense engagements increased $14.4 million, or 30.1%, to $62.3 million for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2005 from $47.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Revenues from fixed-fee engage-
ments increased $6.4 million, or 50.0%, to $19.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $12.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004. Revenues from performance-based engagements increased $1.0 million,
or 15.4%, to $7.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $6.5 million for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2004.

Of the overall $21.8 million increase in revenues, $20.2 million was attributable to an increase in the number
of consultants and increased usage of independent contractors, $1.5 million was attributable to an increase in the
average billing rate per hour, and $0.1 million was attributable to an increase in the utilization rate of our con-
sultants. These increases were reflective of growing demand for our services from new and existing clients. The
average number of consultants increased to 278 for the year ended December 31, 2005 from 206 for the year
ended December 31, 2004, as we added a significant number of consultants over the past year. Independent con-
tractor revenues increased $1.0 million, or 55.6%, to $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from
$1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The average billing rate per hour increased 1.8% to $222 for
the year ended December 31, 2005 from $218 for 2004. The Operational Consulting segment’s utilization rate
remained fairly flat at 73.1% for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 73.0% for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2004.

Operating income

Operational Consulting segment operating income increased $8.7 million, or 37.7%, to $31.7 million for the
year ended December 31, 2005 from $23.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Segment operating
margin increased to 35.6% in the year ended December 31, 2005 from 34.3% in 2004.

Client Bankruptcy Case

On July 5, 2005, one of our clients filed for bankruptcy. Subsequent to the filing of the bankruptcy, we con-
tinued to provide interim management, revenue cycle management and strategic sourcing services under an en-
gagement contract with the client. In addition, we continued to provide services pursuant to a separate
engagement contract with the client’'s bankruptcy counsel to assist with the bankruptcy process.

On October 21, 2005, the client filed an application with the Bankruptcy Court to authorize our retention dur-
ing the bankruptcy process. In connection with the application, new financial terms and conditions of the engage-
ment contracts, including billing terms and rates for our services, were negotiated and agreed to with the client
and certain other interested parties retroactive to July 5, 2005 pursuant to a new engagement contract that super-
seded the original contracts. At a hearing held on October 28, 2005, the Bankruptcy Court approved on an interim
basis our retention based on these agreed upon terms. On December 14, 2005, the Bankruptcy Court approved
our retention on a permanent basis. There could be challenges during the bankruptcy process to the fees earned
by us and Speltz & Weis LLC, as well as challenges during and after the bankruptcy process to fees earned by us
and Speltz & Weis LLC prior to the bankruptcy filing on July 5, 2005, as several parties to the bankruptcy
proceeding have reserved their right to challenge those fees. Although no such claim has been brought to date, if
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a claim is brought in the future, the claim could have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of
operations, earnings per share or cash flows in the period in which such claim were resolved.

The effect of the change in financial terms approved by the Bankruptcy Court on December 14, 2005 was to
reduce revenues in the year ended December 31, 2005 by $2.1 million from the amounts provided for under the
original terms of the interim management contract with the client. The results for the year ended December 31, 2005
also reflect legal and related costs totaling approximately $0.9 million associated with the bankruptcy process.

Based on the projected cash flows under the new financial terms and conditions approved by the Bankruptcy
Court, the intangible value that we assigned to the interim management contract in connection with the Speltz &
Weis LLC acquisition has decreased. Accordingly, we wrote off the remaining carrying value of this contract in the
third quarter of 2005. This charge, totaling $0.6 million, is included in depreciation and amortization for the year
ended December 31, 2005 and is attributable to the Financial Consulting segment.

Year ended December 31, 2004 compared to year ended December 31, 2003
Revenues

Revenues increased $58.1 million, or 57.2%, to $159.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from
$101.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Revenues from time-and-expense engagements increased
$46.5 million, or 54.0%, to $132.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $86.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003. Revenues from fixed-fee engagements increased $6.7 million, or 55.4%, to $18.8 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $12.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Revenues
from performance-based engagements increased $4.9 million, or 148.5%, to $8.2 million for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2004 from $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.

The overall $58.1 million increase in revenues resulted from a $32.3 million increase in revenues attributable
to an increase in billable hours associated with new and existing client engagements and the hiring of additional
consultants, a $16.7 million increase in revenues attributable to an increase in the average billing rate per hour
and a $9.1 million increase in revenues attributable to an increase in our utilization rate. The average number of
consultants increased to 485 for the year ended December 31, 2004 from 361 for the year ended December 31,
2003 as we added a substantial number of consultants during the second half of 2003 to meet growing demand
for our services and position us for future growth. The average billing rate per hour increased 10.1% to $239 for
the year ended December 31, 2004 from $217 for the year ended December 31, 2003. In addition, our utilization
rate increased to 72.2% for the year ended December 31, 2004 from 66.1% in the year ended December 31,
2003.

Total direct costs

Our direct costs increased $22.9 million, or 33.0%, to $92.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2004
from $69.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2003. This increase in cost was primarily attributable to the
increase in the average number of consultants described above.

Stock-based compensation expense increased to $1.0 million primarily due to the issuance of employee
stock option awards with a higher intrinsic value during the first quarter of 2004 and the granting of restricted
common stock awards to our consultants. On October 12, 2004, immediately prior to our initial public offering, we
granted to our consultants a total of 489,500 shares of restricted common stock with an aggregate fair market
value of $7.6 million.

Operating expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $15.2 million, or 60.3%, to $40.4 million in the year
ended December 31, 2004 from $25.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase was due in
part to an increase in the average number of non-billable professionals to 113 for the year ended December 31,
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2004 from 76 for the year ended December 31, 2003 and their related compensation and benefit costs of $16.5
million in the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to $9.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2003.
Selling, general and administrative expenses in the year ended December 31, 2004 also included severance
charges totaling $1.8 million as we eliminated the positions of certain managing directors and other senior level
consultants. Severance charges included the settling of contractual obligations with certain managing directors.
The remaining increase in selling, general and administrative expenses in 2004 compared to 2003 was due to in-
creases in rent and other facility costs, promotion and marketing costs, and other administrative costs associated
with the general growth in our business activity, as well as costs incurred to establish an infrastructure to support
a public company.

Stock-based compensation expense totaled $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 due to the
granting of restricted stock awards to our non-billable professionals. On October 12, 2004, immediately prior to
our initial public offering, we granted to our non-billable professionals a total of 278,200 shares of restricted com-
mon stock with an aggregate fair market value of $4.3 million.

Depreciation expense increased $0.8 million, or 50.0%, to $2.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2004
from $1.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2003 as computers, furniture and fixtures, and leasehold im-
provements were added to support our increase in employees. There was no amortization expense in 2004 com-
pared to $3.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2003. The amortization expense in 2003 related to $5.5
million in intangible costs paid in 2002 to obtain the release of certain of our employees from non-competition
agreements with Arthur Andersen LLP, their former employer, and the related assumption of $0.8 million in li-
abilities, both of which were fully amortized by December 31, 2003.

Operating expenses in 2004 included a $2.1 million pre-tax restructuring charge associated with the closing
of two small, underperforming offices in Miami, Florida and Palo Alto, California. The charge consisted of approx-
imately $2.0 million for severance payments for the ten employees formerly employed at these locations, which
were paid by April 30, 2004, and $0.1 million for office lease payments, which were paid by August 31, 2004. We
also incurred a $1.3 million pre-tax restructuring charge as we decided to eliminate a service offering of a practice
area in the Operational Consulting segment that was not meeting our expectations.

Other operating expenses in the year ended December 31, 2003 consisted of a $1.7 million charge for the
loss associated with the abandonment of an office lease.

Operating income (loss)

Operating income in the year ended December 31, 2004 was $19.7 million compared to an operating loss of
$0.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase in operating income was primarily due to rev-
enue growing at a higher rate as compared to the growth in direct costs and operating expenses. Operating mar-
gin was 12.3% in the year ended December 31, 2004.

Segment results
Financial Consulting
Revenues

Financial Consulting segment revenues increased $24.4 million, or 35.8%, to $92.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 from $68.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Revenues from time-and-expense
engagements increased $22.5 million, or 36.2%, to $84.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from
$62.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Revenues from fixed-fee engagements increased $1.1 mil-
lion, or 22.4%, to $6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $4.9 million for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2003. Revenues from performance-based engagements increased $0.8 million, or 88.9%, to $1.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.
Performance-based fee revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004 consisted of a $1.6 million success fee
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recognized in the second quarter relating to the successful completion of a series of asset sale transactions man-
aged on behalf of a single client over a two-year period.

The overall $24.4 million increase in revenues resulted from a $10.8 million increase in revenues attributable
to an increase in billable hours associated with new and existing client engagements and the hiring of additional
consultants, a $8.5 million increase in revenues attributable to an increase in the average billing rate per hour and
a $5.1 million increase in revenues attributable to an increase in our utilization rate. The average number of con-
sultants increased to 279 for the year ended December 31, 2004 from 219 for the year ended December 31, 2003
as we added a substantial number of consultants across all of our practices to meet growing demand for our serv-
ices. The average billing rate per hour increased 10.3% to $257 for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $233
for the year ended December 31, 2003. In addition, our utilization rate increased to 71.6% for the year ended
December 31, 2004 from 66.6% for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Operating income

Financial Consulting segment operating income increased $13.8 million, or 66.8%, to $34.4 million in the year
ended December 31, 2004 from $20.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2003. Segment operating margin
improved to 37.2% in the year ended December 31, 2004 from 30.3% in the year ended December 31, 2003,
primarily as a result of the increase in revenues discussed above, partially offset by an increase in direct costs in
2004.

Operational Consulting
Revenues

Operational Consulting segment revenues increased $33.7 million, or 100.8%, to $67.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004 from $33.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Revenues from
time-and-expense engagements increased $24.0 million, or 100.4%, to $47.9 million for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2004 from $23.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Revenues from fixed-fee engage-
ments increased $5.6 million, or 77.8%, to $12.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $7.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2003. Revenues from performance-based engagements increased $4.1 million,
or 170.8%, to $6.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $2.4 million for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2003.

The overall $33.7 million increase in revenues resulted from a $21.5 million increase in revenues attributable
to an increase in billable hours associated with new and existing client engagements and the hiring of additional
consultants, a $8.3 million increase in revenues attributable to an increase in the average billing rate per hour and
a $3.9 million increase in revenues attributable to an increase in our utilization rate. The average number of con-
sultants increased to 206 for the year ended December 31, 2004 from 142 for the year ended December 31,
2003. The average billing rate per hour increased 14.1% to $218 for the year ended December 31, 2004 from
$191 for the year ended December 31, 2003. Our utilization rate of 73.0% for the year ended December 31, 2004
was up from 65.3% for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Operating income

Operational Consulting segment operating income increased $16.2 million, or 238.7%, to $23.0 million in the
year ended December 31, 2004 from $6.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2003. Segment operating mar-
gin increased to 34.3% in the year ended December 31, 2004 from 20.3% in the year ended December 31, 2003,
primarily due to the increase in revenues discussed above, partially offset by an increase in direct costs in 2004,
as well as investments made during 2003 to start a new practice and expand our capabilities in an existing prac-
tice in this segment.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations, proceeds generated by our initial public offer-
ing and debt capacity available under our credit facility. Cash and cash equivalents, consisting of demand depos-
its and short-term commercial paper, increased $3.7 million, from $28.1 million at December 31, 2004, to
$31.8 million at December 31, 2005 primarily due to increased cash from operations generated by growth in our
business, partially offset by the acquisition of Speltz & Weis LLC. Cash and cash equivalents increased
$23.8 million, from $4.3 million at December 31, 2003, to $28.1 million at December 31, 2004 primarily due to
cash generated by our initial public offering and growth in our business.

Operating activities

Cash flows generated by operating activities totaled $26.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 and
$12.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Our operating assets and liabilities consist primarily of
receivables from billed and unbilled services, accounts payable and accrued expenses, and accrued payroll and
related benefits. The volume of billings and timing of collections and payments affect these account balances. The
increase in cash provided by operations for the year ended December 31, 2005 was primarily attributable to an
increase in revenues and improved financial results due to the general growth of our business, which was partially
offset by growth in our receivables from clients and unbilled services. Receivables from clients and unbilled serv-
ices increased $14.8 million during 2005, as compared to $11.4 million during 2004. This increase in client balan-
ces was substantially offset by a $11.6 million increase in accrued payroll and related benefits, which is primarily
related to accrued bonuses that we will pay out in the first quarter of 2006.

Cash flows generated by operating activities totaled $12.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 and
$4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase in cash provided by operations for the year
ended December 31, 2004 was primarily attributable to higher revenues and improved financial results due to the
general growth in our business. Receivables from clients and unbilled services increased $11.4 million during the
year ended December 31, 2004 primarily due to increased revenues generated and billed. This increase in client
balances was substantially offset by a $11.3 million increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses and ac-
crued payroll and related benefits.

Investing activities

Cash used in investing activities was $21.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 and $6.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004. During 2005, we used $12.5 million to acquire Speltz & Weis LLC, net of
cash acquired of $1.8 million. Use of cash in both periods also pertained to the purchase of computer hardware
and software, furniture and fixtures and leasehold improvements needed to meet the ongoing needs relating to
the hiring of additional employees and the expansion of office space. We estimate that our cash utilized for capital
expenditures in 2006 will be approximately $12 million primarily for leasehold improvements.

Cash used by investing activities was $6.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 and $4.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2003. Use of cash in both periods pertained to the purchase of computer hardware
and software, furniture and fixtures and leasehold improvements needed to meet the ongoing needs relating to
the hiring of additional employees and the expansion of office space.

Financing activities

Cash used in financing activities in 2005 was $1.2 million. During the year ended December 31, 2005 upon
the vesting of restricted stock awards, we redeemed 56,145 shares of our common stock at an average stock
price of $24.16 to satisfy employee tax withholding requirements. Cash provided by financing activities was
$18.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 due to cash proceeds generated by our initial public offering,
which we used a portion of to redeem the outstanding 8% preferred stock and repay the 8% promissory notes as
discussed below. On June 29, 2004, we paid a special dividend to our stockholders. The special dividend was
declared on May 12, 2004 for each outstanding share of common stock and 8% preferred stock payable to hold-
ers of record on May 25, 2004. The 8% preferred stock participated on an as converted basis. The aggregate
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amount of the dividend was $1.3 million, or $0.09 per share of common stock and $9.64 per share of 8% pre-
ferred stock. The payment of the special dividend was funded by our available cash balance and by borrowing
availability under our credit agreement described below, which we repaid the following day.

Upon the consummation of our initial public offering on October 18, 2004, we used $15.1 million of our net
proceeds from the initial public offering to redeem the outstanding 8% preferred stock, plus cumulative dividends
and a liquidation participation amount totaling $2.6 million. Also on October 18, 2004, we used $10.7 million of our
net proceeds from the initial public offering to repay the 8% promissory notes, including accrued and unpaid inter-
est of $0.6 million.

We have a bank credit agreement that originally expired on February 10, 2006. Prior to the expiration date,
we extended the credit agreement for another ninety days. The agreement allows us to borrow up to the lesser of
$25.0 million or the sum of (a) 85% of eligible accounts receivable and (b) the lesser of 40% of unbilled services
or $5.0 million. Borrowings under the agreement are limited by any outstanding letters of credit, bear interest at
LIBOR plus 1.75%, and are secured by substantially all of our assets. The bank credit agreement includes cove-
nants for minimum equity and maximum annual capital expenditures, as well as covenants restricting our ability to
incur additional indebtedness or engage in certain types of transactions outside of the ordinary course of
business. As of December 31, 2005, we were in compliance with the bank credit agreement debt covenants and
had no borrowings outstanding. The balance available under the agreement was $18.5 million after the calculation
of eligible accounts receivable and unbilled services balances and a reduction of approximately $6.5 million for
letters of credit outstanding.

Future needs

Our primary financing need has been to fund our growth. Our growth strategy includes hiring additional con-
sultants and expanding our service offerings through existing consultants, new hires or acquisitions. We intend to
fund such growth over the next twelve months with funds generated from operations, proceeds from our initial
public offering and borrowing availability under our credit agreement. Because we expect that our future annual
growth rate in revenues and related percentage increases in working capital balances will moderate, we believe
cash generated from operations and the initial public offering, supplemented as necessary by borrowings under
our credit facility, will be adequate to fund this growth. Over the longer term, we expect that cash flow from oper-
ations, supplemented by short- and long- term financing, as necessary, will be adequate to fund day-to-day oper-
ations and capital expenditure requirements. Our ability to secure short-term and long-term financing in the future
will depend on several factors, including our future profitability, the quality of our accounts receivable and unbilled
services, our relative levels of debt and equity and overall condition of the credit markets.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following tables represent our obligations and commitments to make future payments under contracts,
such as lease agreements, and under contingent commitments as of December 31, 2005 (in thousands).

Less than 1-3 4-5 After 5
1 year years years years Total
Notes payable .............oo it $1,000 $ 2000 $ — $ — $ 3,000
Intereston notes payable .. ......... ... .. .. oL 120 120 240
Capital lease obligations . ........... . ... ..., 282 127 — — 409
Operating lease obligations ........... .. ... ... ... .. .... 7,003 27,010 14,916 25,629 74,558
Purchase obligations .............. .. ... . ... .. ... ..... 997 322 — — 1,319
Total contractual obligations . .. ..................... $9,402 $29,579 $14,916 $25,629 $79,526

We lease our facilities and certain equipment under operating lease arrangements expiring on various dates
through 2016, with various renewal options. We lease office facilities under noncancelable operating leases that
include fixed or minimum payments plus, in some cases, scheduled base rent increases over the term of the

35




lease. Certain leases provide for monthly payments of real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expense
applicable to the property. Some of the leases contain provisions whereby the future rental payments may be ad-
justed for increases in operating expense above the specified amount.

Purchase obligations include sponsorships, subscriptions to research tools and other commitments to pur-
chase services where we cannot cancel or would be required to pay a termination fee in the event of cancellation.

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENT

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-
Based Payment,” (“SFAS No. 123R"). In April 2005, the SEC adopted a new rule that amends the effective date
of SFAS No. 123R. Under the new rule, we adopted SFAS No. 123R effective January 1, 2006. This statement
requires that the costs of employee share-based payments be measured at fair value on the awards’ grant date
and be recognized in the financial statements over the requisite service period. SFAS No. 123R supersedes APB
25 and its related interpretations, and eliminates the alternative to use APB 25’s intrinsic value method of account-
ing, which we were using prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R. Additionally, SFAS No. 123R amends SFAS
No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows,” to require that excess tax benefits be reported as a financing cash inflow
rather than as a reduction of taxes paid.

SFAS No. 123R allows for two alternative transition methods. The first method is the modified prospective
application whereby compensation cost for the portion of awards for which the requisite service has not yet been
rendered that are outstanding as of the adoption date will be recognized over the remaining service period. The
compensation cost for that portion of awards will be based on the fair value of those awards on the grant date as
calculated for pro forma disclosures under SFAS No. 123, as originally issued. All new awards and awards that
are modified, repurchased, or cancelled after the adoption date will be accounted for under the provisions of
SFAS No. 123R. The second method is the modified retrospective application, which requires that we restate prior
period financial statements. The modified retrospective application may be applied either to all prior periods or
only to prior interim periods in the year of adoption of this statement. Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the
modified prospective transition method and we do not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 123R to have a material
impact on our financial position, results of operations, earnings per share, and cash flows.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

In a secondary offering completed in February 2006, HCG Holdings LLC sold 6,300,000 of its shares of the
Company’s common stock at an offering price of $27.00 per share. Upon completion of the offering,
HCG Holdings LLC held approximately 14.0% of the Company’s issued and outstanding common stock. The
Company did not offer any shares and did not receive any proceeds from this offering. Additionally, the under-
writers may also purchase up to an additional 945,000 shares of common stock from HCG Holdings LLC at the
public offering price within 30 days from February 3, 2006.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

We are exposed to market risks related to interest rates and changes in the market value of our investments.
We do not enter into interest rate caps or collars or other hedging instruments.

Our exposure to changes in interest rates is limited to borrowings under the bank credit agreement, which
has a variable interest rates tied to the LIBOR or prime rate. We had no borrowings outstanding under our bank
credit agreement as of December 31, 2004 and 2005; therefore, any change in interest rates would not have a
material effect on our financial position or operating results.
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At December 31, 2005, we had notes payable totaling $3.0 million that are payable in three equal annual in-
stallments beginning on May 8, 2006. We are not exposed to significant interest rate risks in respect to these
notes as they bear a fixed interest rate at 4% per annum.

From time to time, we invest excess cash in marketable securities. These investments principally consist of
overnight sweep accounts and short-term commercial paper. Due to the short maturity of our investments and
debt obligations, we have concluded that we do not have material market risk exposure.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

The Company’s consolidated financial statements and supplementary data are included in pages F-1 through
F-24 of this annual report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of
December 31, 2005. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have con-
cluded that, as of December 31, 2005, our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in recording, process-
ing, summarizing and reporting, on a timely basis, information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file
or submit under the Exchange Act and such information is accumulated and communicated to management as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial re-
porting for the Company. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures
that:

(i) Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the trans-
actions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

(ii) Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and ex-
penditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and direc-
tors of the Company; and

(iif) Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Due to its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.
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Under the supervision and participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we con-
ducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on the
framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, we have concluded that the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2005.

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2005 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report appearing on page F-2 of this annual report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2005 that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
Directors and Executive Officers

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from portions of our definitive proxy state-
ment for our annual meeting of stockholders to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A by April 30, 2006
(the “Proxy Statement”) under “Nominees to Board of Directors,” “Directors Not Standing For Election,” “Executive
Officers” and “Board Meetings and Committees.”

Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from a portion of the Proxy Statement un-
der “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.”

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) that is applicable to all our employ-
ees, officers and directors. The Code is available on our website at www.huronconsultinggroup.com. If we make
any amendments to or grant any waivers from the Code which are required to be disclosed pursuant to the Secu-
rities Exchange Act of 1934, we will make such disclosures on our website.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from a portion of the Proxy Statement un-
der “Executive Compensation.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table summarizes information as of December 31, 2005 with respect to equity compensation
plans approved by shareholders. We do not have equity compensation plans that have not been approved by
shareholders.

Number of Shares

Number of Shares to Remaining Available
be Issued Upon Weighted-Average for Future Issuance
Exercise of Exercise Price of  (excluding shares in
Plan Category Outstanding Options Outstanding Options 1st column)
Equity compensation plans approved by
shareholders (1):
2002 Equity Incentive Plan .. .................. 345,289 $ 0.02 — (2)
2002 Equity Incentive Plan (California) .......... 26,309 $ 1.23 — (2
2003 Equity Incentive Plan . ................... 815,544 $ 1.08 — (2
2004 Omnibus Stock Plan . ................... 117,546 $15.97 597,747
Equity compensation plans not approved by
shareholders: ........... ... ... .. i i N/A N/A N/A
$ 2.15

Total ..o 1,304,688 597,747

(1) Our equity compensation plans were approved by the existing shareholders prior to our initial public offering.

(2) Prior to the completion of our initial public offering, we established the 2004 Omnibus Stock Plan. We
terminated the 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, 2002 Equity Incentive Plan (California) and 2003 Equity Incentive
Plan and no further awards will be granted under these plans.

The other information required by this item is incorporated by reference from a portion of the Proxy Statement
under “Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.”
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIP AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from a portion of the Proxy Statement un-
der “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from a portion of the Proxy Statement un-
der “Audit and Non-Audit Fees.”

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
(a) Documents filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K.

1. Financial Statements — Our independent registered public accounting firm’s report and consolidated
financial statements are listed below and begin on page F-1 of this annual report on Form 10-K.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Income

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules — The financial statement schedules required by this item are in-
cluded in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.

3. Exhibit Index

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

2.1%** Membership Interest Purchase and Sale Agreement by and among Huron Consulting Group Inc.,
Speltz & Weis LLC, and David E. Spelt and Timothy C. Weis, dated as of May 5, 2005.

3.1** Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Huron Consulting Group Inc.
3.2* Bylaws of Huron Consulting Group Inc.
4.1* Specimen Stock Certificate.
10.1* Office Lease, dated December 2003, between Union Tower, LLC and Huron Consulting Services LLC

(formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC).

10.2* Senior Management Agreement, effective as of May 13, 2002, between Huron Consulting Services
LLC (formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and Gary E. Holdren.

10.3* First Amendment to Senior Management Agreement between Huron Consulting Services LLC
(formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and Gary E. Holdren.

10.4* Second Amendment to Senior Management Agreement between Huron Consulting Services LLC
(formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and Gary E. Holdren.

10.5*% Restricted Shares Award Agreement, dated December 10, 2002, between Huron Consulting Group
Inc., Huron Consulting Services LLC (formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC), HCG Holdings
LLC and Gary E. Holdren.

10.6* Restricted Shares Award Agreement, dated December 31, 2002, between Huron Consulting Group
Inc. and Gary E. Holdren.

10.7* Senior Management Agreement, effective as of August 12, 2002, between Huron Consulting Services
LLC (formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and George E. Massaro.
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Exhibit

Number

10.8*

10.9*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*
10.14*
10.15*

10.16*
10.17*

10.18*

10.19*

10.20**

10.21**

10.22**

10.23**

10.24**
10.25
10.26**

10.27**

10.28****

10. 29*****

Exhibit Description

First Amendment to Senior Management Agreement between Huron Consulting Services LLC
(formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and George E. Massaro.

Senior Management Agreement, effective as of May 15, 2002, between Huron Consulting Services
LLC (formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and Daniel Broadhurst.

First Amendment to Senior Management Agreement between Huron Consulting Services LLC
(formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and Daniel Broadhurst.

Senior Management Agreement, effective as of May 1, 2002, between Huron Consulting Services
LLC (formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and Mary Sawall.

First Amendment to Senior Management Agreement between Huron Consulting Services LLC
(formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and Mary Sawall.

Huron Consulting Group Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan and form of option agreement thereunder.
Amendment No. 1 to Huron Consulting Group Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan.

Amended and Restated Huron Consulting Group Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan (California) and
form of option agreement thereunder.

Huron Consulting Group Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Plan and form of option agreement thereunder.

Huron Consulting Group Inc. 2004 Omnibus Stock Plan and form of option and restricted stock
agreement thereunder.

Second Amended and Restated Secured Revolving Line of Credit Note, dated February 11, 2004,
between Huron Consulting Services LLC (formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and
LaSalle Bank, N.A.

Loan and Security Agreement, dated January 31, 2003, between Huron Consulting Services LLC
(formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and LaSalle Bank, N.A., including amendments
thereto, dated as of January 28, 2004, February 11, 2004 and May 7, 2004.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 12, 2004, between Huron Consulting Group Inc. and
HCG Holdings LLC.

Management rights letter agreement, dated October 12, 2004, between Huron Consulting Group
Inc. and Lake Capital Partners LP.

Senior Management Agreement, effective as of November 25, 2002, between Huron Consulting
Services LLC (formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and Gary L. Burge.

First Amendment to Senior Management Agreement between Huron Consulting Services LLC
(formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and Gary L. Burge.

Executive Officers’ Compensation for 2004 and 2005 Summary Sheet.
Directors’ Compensation for 2005 and 2006 Summary Sheet (filed herewith).

Third Amended and Restated Secured Revolving Line of Credit Note, dated February 10, 2005,
between Huron Consulting Group Inc., Huron Consulting Services LLC and LaSalle Bank, N.A.

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement between Huron Consulting Group Inc.,
Huron Consulting Services LLC and LaSalle Bank, N.A., dated as of February 10, 2005.

Senior Management Change of Control Agreement, effective as of November 2, 2004, between
Huron Consulting Services LLC, Huron Consulting Group Inc. and Natalia Delgado.

Second Amendment to Senior Management Agreement between Huron Consulting Services LLC
(formerly known as Huron Consulting Group LLC) and George E. Massaro.
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Exhibit
Number

21.1
23.1
31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

*%

*%k%

*kkk

*kkkk
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Exhibit Description

List of Subsidiaries of Huron Consulting Group Inc. (filed herewith).
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (filed herewith).

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

Incorporated by reference to the same number exhibit filed with the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-115434).

Incorporated by reference to the same number exhibit filed with the Registrant’s Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Incorporated by reference to the same number exhibit filed with the Registrant’s Current Report on

Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on May 10, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit number 10.30 filed with the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-115434).

Incorporated by reference to the same number exhibit filed with the Registrant’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-130951).




SIGNATURES
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Signature w E
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Signature % E
/sl  GARY E. HOLDREN Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and February 23, 2006
Gary E. Holdren President (Principal Executive Officer)
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John S. Moody
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Huron Consulting Group Inc.:

We have completed an integrated audit of Huron Consulting Group Inc.’s 2005 consolidated financial state-
ments and of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 and audits of its 2004 and 2003
consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Huron Consulting Group Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2005
and December 31, 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2005 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these
statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management's Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that the Company maintained effective internal control over finan-
cial reporting as of December 31, 2005 based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all
material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment and on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our
audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Account-
ing Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of in-
ternal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accord-
ance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide rea-
sonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-
ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chicago, IL
February 17, 2006
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,

December 31,

2005 2004
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .. ...... ... $ 31,820 $ 28,092
Receivables from clients, net . ....... ... . . . . . . 29,164 21,750
Unbilled services, Net . ... ... . 18,187 10,830
Income taxreceivable . ........ . . . 232 494
Deferred INCOME taxes .. ...t e e e 12,553 7,919
Other CUIreNnt @SSetS . ... i 5,799 3,053
Total CUMMENt @SSELS ...ttt i e e e e e 97,755 72,138
Property and equipment, Net .. ... i e 13,162 8,975
Deferred INCOME taXES . ... ittt e e e e 2,154 1,450
Deposits and other assets . ............ i e e 1,147 656
Intangible assets, Net . ... .. . e 844 —
GoodWIll . . 14,637 —
TOtal ASSEES . .ttt $129,699 $ 83,219
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable . .. ... ... $ 2,671 $ 2,809
ACCIUEA BXPENSES . v ittt et ettt e 4,357 2,384
Accrued payroll and related benefits ........... ... ... .. . 32,073 20,494
Income tax payable .. ... ... 491 950
Deferred reVENUE . .. ... o e 4,609 2,603
Current portion of notes payable and capital lease obligations ................ 1,282 —
Total current liabilities .......... ... . 45,483 29,240
Non-current liabilities:
ACCIUE EXPEINSES . . o\ttt ettt e et e e 274 598
Notes payable and capital lease obligations, net of current portion . ............ 2,127 —
Deferred lease iNCENtIVES ... ... . i 6,283 4,148
Total non-current liabilities . .. ........ .. 8,684 4,746
Commitments and CONtINGENCIES . . . ...ttt e e et — —
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock; $0.01 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized; 17,397,312 shares

issued at December 31, 2005 and 16,364,574 shares issued at December 31,

2004 .. 174 164
Treasury stock, at cost, 148,933 and 0 shares at December 31, 2005 and 2004,

FESPECHIVEIY .. e (3,061) —
Additional paid-in capital . ......... .. e 79,963 59,608
Deferred stock-based compensation . .............. i (21,055) (12,281)
Retained earnings .. ... ..t i e 19,511 1,742

Total stockholders’ equity . ........... .t e 75,532 49,233
Total liabilities and stockholders equity ... ......... ... . i $129,699 $ 83,219

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Revenues and reimbursable expenses:
REVENUES . ..ot $207,213 $159,550 $101,486
Reimbursable expenses . ... . 18,749 14,361 8,808
Total revenues and reimbursable expenses ......................... 225,962 173,911 110,294
Direct costs and reimbursable expenses (exclusive of depreciation and
amortization shown in operating expenses):
DIrECt COSES . . vttt 112,721 92,270 69,374
Stock-based compensation . ...t 5,047 978 27
Intangible assets amortization ........... ... . . . 1,314 — —
Reimbursable eXpenses . ... ... 18,982 14,281 8,929
Total direct costs and reimbursable expenses .. ...................... 138,064 107,529 78,330
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative . . .. ... .. . 49,139 40,425 25,171
Stock-based compensation .. ... ... 1,896 433 14
Depreciation and amortization . ............... ... 5,282 2,365 5,328
Restructuring charges . ... — 3,475 —
Loss onlease abandonment . ... ... ... — — 1,668
Total operating EXPENSES . . ..ot 56,317 46,698 32,181
Operating income (I0SS) . . . . oo vt 31,581 19,684 (217)
Other (income) expense:
Interest (iNCOME) eXPENSE, NEL . .. ..ot (472) 692 856
Other BXPENSE . et e 37 — 112
Total other (inNCOME) EXPENSE . .. .. it e (435) 692 968
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes .................. 32,016 18,992 (1,185)
Provision (benefit) forincometaxes . ........... . i 14,247 8,128 (122)
NetiNCOME (I0SS) . . v vt e 17,769 10,864 (1,063)
Accrued dividends on 8% preferred stock ............ ... ... ... ... . ... — 931 1,066
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders .. .................. $ 17,769 $ 9,933 $ (2,129)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders per share*:
BaSIC . .. $ 113 $ 077 $ (0.18)
Diluted . .o $ 105 $ 072 $ (0.18)
Weighted average shares used in calculating net income (loss) attributable to
common stockholders per share*:
BaSIC . .. 15,741 12,820 11,871
Diluted . .o 16,858 13,765 11,871

* Adjusted to reflect a 1 for 2.3 reverse stock split effected on October 5, 2004.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock

(previously
glamei c Class g’t «
ass ommon Stoc Stock Additional Deferred Retained Stockholders’
Common Stock) (retired in 2004) Subscription Treasury  Paid-In Stock-based Earnings Equity
Shares* Amount Shares* Amount Receivable Stock Capital Compensation (Deficit) (Deficit)
Balance at December 31,2002 ............ 11,281,243 $259 521,740 $ 12 $ (2 $ — $ — $ — $(4,812) $(4,543)
Netloss . ... (1,063) (1,063)
Exercise of stock options . ................. 160,608 4 4
Stock option compensation ................ 42 42
Stock subscription receivable .............. 2 2
Accrued dividends on 8% preferred stock .. .. (1,066) (1,066)
Balance at December 31,2003 ............ 11,281,243 259 682,348 16 — — 42 — (6,941) (6,624)
Netincome .......... ... .. .. i, 10,864 10,864
Dividends paid .............. ... ... ... (1,250) (1,250)
Issuance of common stock in connection with:
Initial public offering, net of offering costs ... 3,333,333 33 44,696 44,729
Restricted stock awards, net of
cancellations ............ ... ... ..., 821,350 8 12,976 (12,984) —
Exercise of stock options ................ 29,846 216,454 2 51 53
Stock-based compensation ................ 709 703 1,412
Income tax benefit on stock-based
compensation ..........i i 980 980
1 for 2.3 reverse stock split ................ (145) 9) 154 —
Conversion of Class B common stock to
common stock . ... 898,802 9  (898,802) 9) —
Accrued dividends on 8% preferred stock . ... (931) (931)
Balance at December 31,2004 ............ 16,364,574 164 — — — — 59,608 (12,281) 1,742 49,233
Netincome ........ .. ... .. ... . .. 17,769 17,769
Issuance of common stock in connection with:
Restricted stock awards, net of
cancellations ................ ... ..... 752,397 7 (1,704) 16,523 (14,826) — —
Exercise of stock options ................ 280,341 3 154 157
Stock-based compensation ................ 891 6,052 6,943
Shares redeemed for employee tax
withholdings ............ ... ... ...... (1,357) (1,357)
Income tax benefit on stock-based
compensation ............ ... 2,762 2,762
Refund of initial public offering costs ........ 25 25
Balance at December 31,2005 ............ 17,397,312 $ 174 — $— $— $(3,061)  $79,963 $(21,055) $19,511 $75,532

* Adjusted for a 1 for 2.3 reverse stock split effected on October 5, 2004.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Cash flows from operating activities:
NEetiNCOME (I0SS) . . .ottt e e e e e e $17,769 $ 10,864 $ (1,063)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . ........... it e 6,596 2,365 5,328
Deferred INCOME taXeS . . .. ..ottt e e (5,338) (5,090) (1,568)
Stock-based compensation eXPENSE . . . ..ottt e 6,943 1,412 42
Tax benefit from stock-based compensation ............ ... .. .. .. ... ... . ... 2,762 980 —
Allowances for doubtful accounts and unbilled services ........................... 279 1,873 1,410
Other . 39 — 111
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisition:
Increase in receivables fromclients .. ......... ... (6,322) (7,943) (9,711)
Increase inunbilled SErVICES . . . .. ..o i (8,480) (3,446) (2,198)
(Increase) decrease in income tax receivable / payable,net .................... (297) 2,741 (2,286)
Increase in other current assets and other . ......... ... ... . i (2,492) (2,114) (449)
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses .................oi ... 2,095 4,721 3,661
Increase in accrued payroll and related benefits . .. ........... ... o L. 11,579 6,580 9,289
Increase in deferred revenue .. ...... .. ... 1,172 330 893
Changes in other assets and liabilities . . .. ......... ... ... .. i i (411) (802) 575
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . ......... .. ... .. .. . ... 25,994 12,471 4,034
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment, net . . ... . (8,166) (6,943) (4,179)
Purchase of a business, net of cash acquired ........... .. .. .. ... .. . . .. (12,450) — —
Acquisition of intangibles . . ... (475) — (60)
Net cash used in investing activities . . .. ....... .. .. i (21,091) (6,943) (4,239)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock (previously named Class A common stock), net of
OffBrINg COSES . ..o — 44,729 —
Proceeds from issuance of Class B common Stock .. ... — — 3
Refund of initial public offering Costs . . .. ... ... 25 — —
Proceeds from exercise of sStock Options . . ... . .. . 157 53 4
Shares redeemed for employee tax withholdings .......... ... .. ... .. ... .. . .. ... (1,357) — —
Redemption of 8% preferred stock . .......... . . . — (12,500) —
Payment of accrued dividends on 8% preferred stock ............. ... .. .. .. .. .. .. .. .. — (2,643) —
Proceeds from borrowings under line of credit . .. ......... ... . — 37,200 19,175
Repayments on line of credit .. ... . — (37,200) (19,175)
Redemption of notes issued to HCG Holdings LLC . .. ... ... ... ... — (10,076) —
Dividends paid on common StOCK . ... ... .ot — (1,250) —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities ........................ (2,1275) 18,313 7
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cashequivalents ................ .. ... .. ... .. .... 3,728 23,841 (198)
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of the period . . ... ... 28,092 4,251 4,449
End of the Period .. ... $31,820 $28,092 $ 4,251
Noncash transactions:
Issuance of notes payable for purchase of abusiness ............................ $ 3000 $ — $ —
Capitalized lease obligation incurred . . ........... ... i $ 409 $ — $ —
Accrued dividends on 8% preferred stock . . ......... . $ — $ 931 $ 1,066
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest . ... ... $ 80 $ 1647 $ 417
Cash paid for taxes . . ..ot e $17,088 $ 9,497 $ 3,736

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

1. Description of Business

Huron Consulting Group Inc. was formed on March 19, 2002. Huron Consulting Group Inc., together with its
wholly owned subsidiaries, Huron Consulting Services LLC and Speltz & Weis LLC, (the “Company”), is an in-
dependent provider of financial and operational consulting services, whose clients include Fortune 500 compa-
nies, medium-sized businesses, leading academic institutions, healthcare organizations and the law firms that
represent these various organizations. As of December 31, 2005, the majority of the issued and outstanding
common stock of the Company was held by HCG Holdings LLC. On October 18, 2004, the Company completed
its initial public offering of shares of its common stock (see Note 9).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the results of operations and cash flows for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Huron Consulting Group Inc. and its wholly
owned subsidiaries, Huron Consulting Services LLC and Speltz & Weis LLC. All material intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts that
are reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying disclosures. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts reported in previous years have been reclassified to conform to the 2005 presentation.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101, “Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements,” as amended by SAB No. 104, “Revenue Recognition.” Revenue is recog-
nized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the related services are provided, the price is fixed
and determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. These services are primarily rendered under arrange-
ments that require the client to pay on a time-and-expense basis. Fees are based on the hours incurred at
agreed-upon rates and recognized as services are provided. Revenues related to fixed-fee engagements are rec-
ognized based on estimates of work completed versus the total services to be provided under the engagement.
Losses, if any, on fixed-fee engagements are recognized in the period in which the loss first becomes probable
and reasonably estimable. The Company also earns revenues on a performance-based fee basis and recognizes
such revenues when all performance criteria are met. The Company also has contracts with clients to deliver
multiple services that are covered under both individual and separate engagement letters. These arrangements
allow for the Company’s services to be valued and accounted for on a separate basis. Direct costs incurred on
engagements, including performance-based fee engagements, are expensed in the period incurred.

Provisions are recorded for the estimated realization adjustments on all engagements, including engage-
ments for which fees are subject to review by the bankruptcy courts. Expense reimbursements that are billable to
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

clients are included in total revenues and reimbursable expenses, and typically an equivalent amount of re-
imbursable expenses are included in total direct costs and reimbursable expenses. Reimbursable expenses re-
lated to time-and-expense and fixed-fee engagements are recognized as revenue in the period in which the
expense is incurred. Reimbursable expenses subject to performance-based criteria are recognized as revenue
when all performance criteria are met.

Differences between the timing of billings and the recognition of revenue are recognized as either unbilled
services or deferred revenue in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Revenues recognized for serv-
ices performed but not yet billed to clients are recorded as unbilled services. Client prepayments and retainers are
classified as deferred (i.e., unearned) revenue and recognized over future periods as earned in accordance with
the applicable engagement agreement.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Unbilled Services

The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts and for services performed but not yet billed for
estimated losses based on several factors, including the estimated cash realization from amounts due from cli-
ents, an assessment of a client’s ability to make required payments, and the historical percentages of fee adjust-
ments and write-offs by practice group. The allowances are assessed by management on a regular basis.

The provision for doubtful accounts and unbilled services is recorded as a reduction in revenue to the extent
the provision relates to fee adjustments and other discretionary pricing adjustments. To the extent the provision
relates to a client’s inability to make required payments on accounts receivables, the provision is recorded in
operating expenses.

Direct Costs and Reimbursable Expenses

Direct costs and reimbursable expenses consists primarily of billable employee compensation and their re-
lated benefit costs, the cost of outside consultants or subcontractors assigned to revenue generating activities
and direct expenses to be reimbursed by clients.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments, including overnight investments and commercial paper,
with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

To the extent receivables from clients become delinquent, collection activities commence. No single client
balance is considered large enough to pose a significant credit risk. The allowances for doubtful accounts and
unbilled services are based upon the expected ability to collect accounts receivable, and bill and collect unbilled
services. Management does not anticipate incurring losses on accounts receivable in excess of established
allowances. See note 17 for concentration of accounts receivable and unbilled services.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates fair market value. The carrying values for
receivables from clients, unbilled services, accounts payable, deferred revenue and other accrued liabilities rea-
sonably approximate fair market value due to the nature of the financial instrument and the short term maturity of
these items.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of property and equip-
ment is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. Software, computers and re-
lated equipment are depreciated over an estimated useful life of 2 to 3 years. Furniture and fixtures are
depreciated over 5 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the estimated useful life of
the asset or the initial term of the lease.

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, other than goodwill, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circum-
stances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets.” For the
year ended December 31, 2005, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $0.6 million pertaining to an in-
tangible asset as described in note 4. No impairment charges were recorded in 2004 and 2003.

Intangible Assets Other Than Goodwill

The Company accounts for intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other In-
tangible Assets.” This statement requires that certain identifiable intangible assets be amortized over their ex-
pected useful lives.

Goodwill

Gooduwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired entity over the net of the amounts assigned to as-
sets acquired and liabilities assumed. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets,” goodwill is required to be tested for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests whenever
indications of impairment exist. The Company has elected and will begin to perform this annual impairment test in
the second quarter of 2006 or earlier if indications of impairment arise. Impairment exists when the carrying
amount of goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, resulting in an impairment charge for this excess.

Non-Current Liabilities

The Company records certain liabilities that are expected to be settled over a period that exceeds one year
as non-current liabilities. The Company has recorded in accrued expenses the loss on abandonment of one of its
leases as a non-current liability for the payments that are expected to exceed a one-year term. The Company has
also recorded as non-current the portion of the deferred lease incentive liability that the Company expects to rec-
ognize over a period greater than one year. The deferred lease incentive liability at December 31, 2005 and 2004
totaled $6.3 million and $4.1 million, respectively, and consisted of $5.5 million and $3.8 million, respectively, of
tenant improvement allowance. The remaining balance primarily represents rent abatement. Deferred lease in-
centives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease. The payments that will be paid within
twelve months of the balance sheet date related to the lease abandonment and the deferred lease incentive are
classified as current liabilities. The Company monitors the classification of such liabilities based on the expect-
ation of their utilization periods.

Sponsorship and Advertising Costs

Sponsorship and advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Such expenses for 2005, 2004 and 2003 to-
taled $1.2 million, $1.1 million and $0.5 million, respectively.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Income Taxes

Current tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the estimated taxes payable or refundable on the tax re-
turns for the current year. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to
apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or set-
tled.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounted for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method prescribed in Ac-
counting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (“APB 25"), “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related
interpretations and elected the disclosure option of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,”
as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure.” SFAS
No. 123 requires that companies either recognize compensation expense for grants of stock, stock options and
other equity instruments based on fair value, or provide pro forma disclosure of net income and earnings per
share in the notes to the financial statements. Accordingly, the Company measured compensation expense for
stock options as the excess, if any, of the estimated fair market value of the Company’s stock at the date of grant
over the exercise price. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-
Based Payment,” and began accounting for stock-based compensation under this statement. See “New Account-
ing Pronouncement” below.

The following table details the effect on net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders and net in-
come (loss) attributable to common stockholders per share if compensation expense for the stock plans had been
recorded based on the fair value method under SFAS No. 123.

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders ........................ $17,769 $9,933 $(2,129)
Add: Total stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net
income (loss), netof related tax effects . ... ... ... 4,075 844 25
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the
fair value method for all awards, net of related tax effects . . ................... (4,268)  (943) (28)
Pro forma net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders ................ $17,576 $9,834 $(2,132)
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic—asreported . ......... . $ 113 $ 0.77 $ (0.18)
Basic—proforma .......... .. ... $ 112 $ 0.77 $ (0.18)
Diluted —as reported . . ... ...t $ 1.05 $ 072 $ (0.18)
Diluted — proforma . ... ...t $ 1.04 $ 071 $ (0.18)

Segment Reporting

SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” establishes annual
and interim reporting standards for an enterprise’s business segments and related disclosures about its products,
services, geographic areas and major customers. The Company provides services through two segments: Finan-
cial Consulting and Operational Consulting. The Financial Consulting segment provides services that help clients
effectively address complex challenges that arise from litigation, disputes, investigations, regulation, financial dis-
tress and other sources of significant conflict or change. The Operational Consulting segment provides services
that help clients improve the overall efficiency and effectiveness of their operations by enhancing revenue, re-
ducing costs, managing regulatory compliance and maximizing procurement efficiency.
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HURON CONSULTING GROUP INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(Tabular amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

From time to time, the Company may reclassify certain revenues and expenses among the segments to align
them with the changes in the Company’s internal organizational structure. Beginning January 1, 2005, the Foren-
sic Technology and Discovery Services group was moved from the Financial Consulting segment to the Opera-
tional Consulting segment to improve marketing synergies with the legal business consulting practice. Previously
reported segment information has been reclassified to reflect this change. This reclassification had no effect on
previously reported net income.

New Accounting Pronouncement

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-
Based Payment,” (“SFAS No. 123R”). In April 2005, the SEC adopted a new rule that amends the effective date
of SFAS No. 123R. Under this new rule, the Company must adopt SFAS No. 123R effective January 1, 2006 or
earlier. This statement requires that the costs of employee share-based payments be measured at fair value on
the awards’ grant date and be recognized in the financial statements over the requisite service period. SFAS
No. 123R supersedes APB 25 and its related interpretations, and eliminates the alternative to use APB 25’s in-
trinsic value method of accounting, which the Company was using. Additionally, SFAS No. 123R amends SFAS
No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows,” to require that excess tax benefits be reported as a financing cash inflow
rather than as a reduction of taxes paid.

SFAS No. 123R allows for two alternative transition methods. The first method is the modified prospective
application whereby compensation cost for the portion of awards for which the requisite service has not yet been
rendered that are outstanding as of the adoption date will be recognized over the remaining service period. The
compensation cost for that portion of awards will be based on the grant-date fair value of those awards as calcu-
lated for pro forma disclosures under SFAS No. 123, as originally issued. All new awards and awards that are
modified, repurchased, or cancelled after the adoption date will be accounted for under the provisions of SFAS
No. 123R. The second method is the modified retrospective application, which requires that the Company re-
states prior period financial statements. The modified retrospective application may be applied either to all prior
periods or only to prior interim periods in the year of adoption of this statement. Effective January 1, 2006, the
Company adopted the modified prospective transition method. The Company does not expect the adoption of
SFAS No. 123R to have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations, earnings per share or
cash flows.

3. Business Combination

On May 5, 2005, Huron Consulting Group Inc. entered into a Membership Interest Purchase and Sale Agree-
ment to acquire 100% of the outstanding membership interests of Speltz & Weis LLC. The acquisition was con-
summated on May 9, 2005. The results of Speltz & Weis LLC'’s operations have been included within the
Financial Consulting segment since that date. Speltz & Weis LLC is a specialized consulting firm that consisted of
26 consultants. With the acquisition of Speltz & Weis LLC, the Company can provide interim management, organ-
izational renewal and turnaround services, and other crisis management services to distressed hospitals and
other healthcare facilities.

The aggregate purchase price of the acquisition was $17.2 million, which consisted of $14.0 million cash paid
at closing, notes payable totaling $3.0 million payable in three equal annual installments of $1.0 million (together
with accrued interest at 4% per annum) beginning on May 8, 2006, and $0.2 million of transaction costs. Addi-
tional purchase consideration may be payable based on the performance of Speltz & Weis LLC during the three-
year period beginning June 1, 2005 and ending May 30, 2008. Such amounts will be recorded as an adjustment
to goodwill if payable. Also, additional payments may be made based on the amount of revenues the Company
receives from certain referrals made by Speltz & Weis LLC employees. Such amounts will be recorded as an
expense if payable.
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
date of acquisition.

May 9,
__2005
Assets Acquired:
CUITENE ASSBES . o ot ettt et e e e e e e e e $ 2,291
EQUIPMENt . e 16
Intangible aSSetsS .. ... i e 2,600
GoodWIll . .o 14,637
19,544
Liabilities Assumed:
Current liabilities . . ... 2,307
Net ASSEtS ACQUIrEd . .. ..ot $17,237

The $14.6 million of goodwill, which the Company intends to deduct for income tax purposes, was assigned
to the Financial Consulting and Operational Consulting segments as described in note 4.

The $2.6 million of acquired intangible assets have a weighted average useful life of approximately 10.2
months, which consisted of customer contracts of $1.9 million (8.4 months weighted-average useful life) and cus-
tomer relationships of $0.7 million (15.1 months weighted-average useful life). The Company assigned relatively
short lives to the customer contracts and customer relationships due to the short-term nature of the services and
relationships provided under these contracts, which primarily consist of interim management services. During the
third quarter of 2005, the Company wrote off a portion of the intangible assets pertaining to a customer contract
as described in note 4.

The following unaudited pro forma financial data gives effect to the acquisition of Speltz & Weis LLC as if it
had been completed at the beginning of each of the periods. The unaudited pro forma financial data are not
necessarily indicative of the operating results that would have been achieved if the acquisition had occurred on
the dates indicated, nor are they necessarily indicative of future results.

2005 2004
Revenues, net of reimbursable expenses . ....................... $215,495 $178,577
Operating iNnCoOME . . .. ... i e e $ 32,450 $ 23,034
Income before provision forincometaxes . ............. ... .. .... $ 32,848 $ 22,238
Net income attributable to common stockholders . ................. $ 18,140 $ 11,497
Net income attributable to common stockholders per share:

BaSIC . . $ 115 $ 0.90

Diluted . ... $ 108 $ 084

4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The carrying amount of goodwill at December 31, 2005 was $14.6 million, which resulted from the acquisition
of Speltz & Weis LLC as discussed in note 3, and has been assigned to the Company’s segments as follows:

December 31,

2005
Financial Consulting . . ... ..ottt $11,739
Operational CoNSUItiNg . . . .. ..ot 2,898
Total . $14,637
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Intangible assets as of December 31, 2005 consisted of the following:

Gross Carrying Accumulated

Amount Amortization
CUStOMEr CONTACES . . o\ vttt et e e $1,900 $1,848
Customer relationships ........... ... i 700 359
Technology . ... 475 24
Total . $3,075 $2,231

During 2005, in connection with the hiring of a managing director, the Company purchased technology valued
at $0.5 million, which is being amortized over an estimated useful life of 5.0 years.

On July 5, 2005, one of the Company’s clients filed for bankruptcy. On October 21, 2005, the client filed an
application with the Bankruptcy Court to authorize the retention of the Company during the bankruptcy process,
which was approved in December 2005. In connection with the application, new financial terms and conditions of
the engagement contracts, including billing terms and rates for the Company’s services, were negotiated and
agreed to with the client and certain other interested parties retroactive to July 5, 2005 pursuant to a new
engagement contract that superseded the original contracts. Based on the projected cash flows under the new
financial terms and conditions approved by the Bankruptcy Court, the intangible value that the Company assigned
to the interim management contract in connection with the Speltz & Weis LLC acquisition has decreased. Accord-
ingly, the Company wrote off the remaining carrying value of this contract in 2005. See note 15 for further details.

Intangible assets amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2005 was $2.2 million, which in-
cluded a charge of $0.6 million relating to the write-off of the customer contract described above. Estimated in-
tangible assets amortization expense is $0.6 million for 2006, and approximately $0.1 million for each of 2007,
2008, 2009 and 2010.

During 2002, the Company obtained a release of certain employees from non-competition agreements with
Arthur Andersen LLP, their former employer, in exchange for a payment of $5.5 million and the assumption of cer-
tain related liabilities in the amount of $0.8 million. The Company estimated that the value received as a result of
the employees’ release from these agreements has a useful life of eighteen months, the length of the restrictive
covenants in the agreements with Arthur Andersen LLP. Aggregate amortization expense for the year ended
December 31, 2003 was $3.7 million. The remaining net book value of the intangible asset was fully amortized
during the year ended December 31, 2003.

5. Property and Equipment

Depreciation expense for property and equipment was $4.4 million, $2.4 million and $1.6 million for 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. Property and equipment at December 31, 2005 and 2004 are detailed below:

December 31,

2005 2004

Computers, related equipment and software . .. ..................... $ 9,747 $ 5,746
Furniture and fiXtures . ......... . e 3,721 2,900
Leasehold improvements ............ .. 6,122 4,491
Assets under capital lease . ....... ... 409 —
Assets under CoONStruCtioNn . ... ..ot 1,229 54

Property and equipment ........... .. ... 21,228 13,191
Accumulated depreciation and amortization . ............ ... .. ..., (8,066) (4,216)

Property and equipment, net . .............o i $13,162 $ 8,975
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6. Restructuring Charges

In March 2004, the Company incurred a $2.1 million pre-tax restructuring charge associated with the closing
of two offices. The charge included approximately $2.0 million for severance payments, which were paid by
April 30, 2004, and $0.1 million for office lease payments, which were paid by August 31, 2004.

In September 2004, the Company decided to eliminate a service offering of a practice area in the Operational
Consulting segment that was not meeting its expectations and recorded a pre-tax restructuring charge of
$1.3 million in the third quarter of 2004. The Company has utilized the restructuring reserve through cash pay-
ments for severance.

7. Notes Payable

At December 31, 2005, notes payable outstanding totaled $3.0 million, including a current portion of
$1.0 million. As described in note 3, Huron Consulting Group Inc. issued notes payable totaling $3.0 million in
connection with the acquisition of Speltz & Weis LLC. These notes are payable in three equal annual installments
of $1.0 million, together with accrued interest at 4% per annum, beginning on May 8, 2006. Accrued interest at
December 31, 2005 totaled $0.1 million. Scheduled maturities under these notes are $1.0 million in each of 2006,
2007 and 2008.

At various times during 2002, the Company entered into promissory note agreements with HCG Holdings
LLC. The total principal amount borrowed under the promissory note agreements as of December 31, 2003 was
$10.1 million. Interest accrued daily on the promissory notes at a rate of 8% per year and aggregated $0.8 million
at December 31, 2003. Upon the consummation of the initial public offering on October 18, 2004, the Company
used $10.7 million of the net proceeds from the initial public offering to repay its notes payable to HCG Holdings
LLC, including accrued and unpaid interest of $0.6 million.

8. Line of Credit and Guarantee

The Company has a bank credit agreement that originally expired on February 10, 2006. Prior to the expira-
tion date, the Company extended the credit agreement for another ninety days. The agreement allows the Com-
pany to borrow up to the lesser of $25.0 million or the sum of (a) 85% of eligible accounts receivable and (b) the
lesser of 40% of unbilled services or $5.0 million. Borrowings under the agreement are limited by any outstanding
letters of credit, bear interest at LIBOR plus 1.75%, and are secured by substantially all of the Company’s assets.
The bank credit agreement includes covenants for minimum equity and maximum annual capital expenditures, as
well as covenants restricting the Company'’s ability to incur additional indebtedness or engage in certain types of
transactions outside of the ordinary course of business. The Company had no borrowings outstanding under the
credit agreement as of December 31, 2005 and 2004. At both December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company was in
compliance with its debt covenants.

9. Capital Structure and Initial Public Offering

Prior to its initial public offering, the Company’s capital structure consisted of 8% preferred stock, preferred
stock and Class A and Class B common stock.

8% Preferred Stock

The 8% preferred stock had a stated value of $1,000 per share and accrued dividends on a daily basis, com-
pounded annually, at the rate of 8% per annum on the stated value. Between April and June 2002, in connection
with the Company’s initial capitalization, the Company issued to HCG Holdings LLC an aggregate of 12,500
shares of the Company’s 8% preferred stock for an aggregate consideration of $12.5 million. Upon the
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consummation of the Company’s initial public offering on October 18, 2004, the Company used $15.1 million of
the initial public offering proceeds to redeem all outstanding 8% preferred stock, plus cumulative dividends and a
liquidation participation amount totaling $2.6 million. The 8% preferred stock was retired upon this redemption.

Preferred Stock

The Company is expressly authorized to issue up to 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock. The Company’s
certificate of incorporation authorizes the Company’s board of directors, without any further stockholder action or
approval, to issue these shares in one or more classes or series, to establish from time to time the number of
shares to be included in each class or series, and to fix the rights, preferences and privileges of the shares of
each wholly unissued class or series and any of its qualifications, limitations or restrictions. As of December 31,
2005 and 2004, no such preferred stock have been approved or issued.

Common Stock

Prior to the initial public offering, the Company had issued and outstanding Class A voting and Class B non-
voting common stock. Pursuant to the terms of the Company’s certificate of incorporation, each share of the
Company'’s Class B common stock was automatically converted into one share of Class A common stock
immediately prior to the consummation of the initial public offering and the Company’s Class A common stock was
renamed to “common stock.”

The Company is authorized to issue up to 500,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $.01 per share.
The holders of common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on each matter submitted to a
vote of stockholders. Subject to the rights and preferences of the holders of any series of preferred stock that may
at the time be outstanding, holders of common stock are entitled to such dividends as the Company’s board of
directors may declare. In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company’s affairs, after
payment of all of the Company’s debts and liabilities and subject to the rights and preferences of the holders of
any series of preferred stock that may at the time be outstanding, holders of common stock will be entitled to re-
ceive the distribution of any of the Company’s remaining assets.

Dividends

On May 12, 2004, the Company declared a special dividend for each outstanding share of common stock
and 8% preferred stock payable to holders of record on May 25, 2004. The 8% preferred stock participated on an
as converted basis. The aggregate amount of the dividend was $1.3 million, or $0.09 per share of common stock
and $9.64 per share of 8% preferred stock, and was paid on June 29, 2004.

Initial Public Offering

In October 2004, the Company completed its initial public offering. In the initial public offering, the Company
sold 3,333,333 shares of common stock and a selling stockholder, HCG Holdings LLC, sold 1,666,667 shares of
common stock at an offering price of $15.50 per share. On October 22, 2004, the underwriters exercised in full
their over-allotment option to purchase an additional 750,000 shares of common stock from the selling stock-
holder. The initial public offering generated gross proceeds to the Company of $51.7 million, or $48.0 million net
of underwriting discounts. The Company did not receive any proceeds from the shares sold by the selling stock-
holder.
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10. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding for the period, excluding unvested restricted common stock. Diluted earn-
ings per share reflects the potential reduction in earnings per share that could occur if securities or other contracts
to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock under the treasury stock method. Earn-
ings per share under the basic and diluted computation are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Netincome (I0SS) . ..o vt $17,769 $10,864 $(1,063)
Dividends accrued on 8% preferred stock .. ........ ... ... ... ..., — (931) (1,066)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders .. ........... $17,769 $ 9,933  $(2,129)
Weighted average common shares outstanding —basic ............ 15,741 12,820 11,871
Weighted average common stock equivalents .................... 1,117 945 —
Weighted average common shares outstanding — diluted ........... 16,858 13,765 11,871
Basic net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders per

SN . o $ 113 $ 077 $ (0.18)
Diluted net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders per

SN . o $ 105 $ 072 $ (0.18)

Prior to the redemption of the 8% preferred stock in 2004, the 8% preferred stockholders participated in any
dividends paid to common stockholders on an as converted basis using the current period estimated fair market
value of a share of common stock. Net loss is not allocated to preferred stockholders.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2003 excluded 1,599,185
outstanding stock options because the effect of these securities would have been anti-dilutive as the Company
incurred a net loss for the year. There were no anti-dilutive securities for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2005.

11. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a qualified defined contribution 401(k) plan covering substantially all of its employ-
ees. Under the plan, employees are entitled to make pre-tax contributions. The Company matches an amount
equal to the employees’ contributions up to 6% of the employees’ salaries. The Company’s matching contributions
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $3.9 million, $3.3 million and $2.3 million, re-
spectively.

12. Equity Incentive Plans

In 2002, the Huron Consulting Group Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan and the Huron Consulting Group Inc. 2002
Equity Incentive Plan (California) were established pursuant to which up to 1,316,740 Class B non-voting and
108,696 Class A voting shares, respectively, may be granted. In 2003, the Huron Consulting Group Inc. 2003 Equity
Incentive Plan was established pursuant to which up to 1,377,392 Class B nonvoting shares may be granted.

Prior to the completion of the initial public offering, the Huron Consulting Group Inc. 2004 Omnibus Stock
Plan (the “Omnibus Plan”) was established. The plans described in the paragraph above were terminated and no
further awards will be granted under these plans. The Omnibus Plan provides for the issuance of stock options
and other equity-based awards valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on, the Company’s
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common stock. A total of 2,141,000 shares of common stock are reserved for issuance under the Omnibus Plan,
of which 597,747 remain available for future issuance at December 31, 2005. Subject to acceleration under cer-
tain conditions, stock options generally vest annually, pro-rata over 4 years. All options expire ten years after the
grant date.

Stock option activity under the Company’s various equity incentive plans is as follows (number of options in
thousands):

2005 2004 2003
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number Average Number Average Number Average
of Exercise of Exercise of Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price
Outstanding, beginningofyear .................... 1,665 $ 1.86 1599 $ 0.36 843  $0.02
Granted:
Exercise price = fair marketvalue .............. 9 21.85 127 15.50 935 0.60
Exercise price < fair marketvalue .............. — — 422 1.96 — —
Exercised ...... ... .. (280) 0.56 (246) 0.22 (161) 0.02
Canceled . ....... . (89) 3.79 (237) 0.85 (18) 0.18
Outstanding, endofyear ......................... 1,305 $ 215 1665 $ 186 1,599 $0.36
Exercisable, endofyear ......................... 648 $ 1.55 614 $ 0.58 47  $0.02
Weighted average fair value of options granted during
the year:
Exercise price = fair market value .............. $11.21 $ 7.34 $ 0.69
Exercise price < fair marketvalue .............. — $ 6.50 —

The fair value of each stock option is estimated based on the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the fol-
lowing weighted average assumptions:

December 31,
2005 2004 2003

Expected dividend yield . ......... .. . 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility ... ........ . 50% 12% 1%
Risk-free interestrate .......... .. . 41% 2.6% 2.3%
Expected option life (inyears) ...........c. i 4 4 4

Options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2005 are as follows (number of options in thousands):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Number of  Contractual Exercise Number of Exercise
Options Life (in years) Price Options Price
Range of Exercise Prices
$0.00t0$0.02 . ... 412 6.6 $ 0.02 360 $ 0.02
$0.03t0B0.85 ... . 475 7.6 $ 0.69 187 $ 0.70
$O.86t0BL.96 ... ... 301 8.2 $ 1.96 52 $ 1.96
$LO710$21.85 . ..ot 117 8.1 $15.97 49  $15.50
Total . .. e 1,305 7.4 $ 2.15 % $ 1.55
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The Company’s Omnibus Plan also provides for granting restricted stock awards to certain employees, offi-
cers and directors. Restricted stock awards are restricted from sale and generally vest over a three-year or four-
year period. Expense relating to restricted stock awards is amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period. Restricted stock information is as follows:

2005 2004
Restricted shares granted (inthousands) ............... .. .. .. ....... 752 837
Weighted-average market price of sharesgranted ..................... $22.10 $15.83
Restricted shares outstanding (at period end, in thousands) ............. 1,279 821
Restricted shares amortization eXpense . ...............c.ccvuiiinan... $6,052 $ 705

13. Income Taxes

The income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 consists of the fol-
lowing:

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Current:
Federal . ... $12,784 $ 9,592 $ 1,139
A . oo 4,038 2,647 307
Total CUMTENt . .o 16,822 12,239 1,446
Deferred:
Federal . ... (2,000) (3,162) (1,256)
A . oo (575) (949) (312)
Total deferred . ... ..o (2,575) (4,111) (1,568)
Income tax expense (benefit) . . ... $14,247 $ 8,128 $ (122)

A reconciliation of the U.S. statutory income tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate is as follows. The
2003 tax rate effects of meals and entertainment and other non-deductible items are due to the ratio of
non-deductible expense relative to the pretax loss for the year. Other non-deductible items include taxes not de-
ductible for federal income tax purposes.

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Percent of pretax income:
At U.S. statutory tax rate — expense (benefit) ...................... 35.0% 35.0% (35.00%
State INCOME taXES .. .ttt et e et e 6.3 5.2 (5.2)
Meals and entertainment . ............ . . 1.8 25 17.9
Secondary offering ... ... .o 0.7 — —
Other non-deductibleitems . ........ .. ... . i i 0.7 0.1 12.0
Effective income tax expense (benefityrate . ................... 445% 428%  (10.3)%
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Deferred tax assets at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consist of the following:

Year ended
December 31,
2005 2004
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued payroll and other liabilities .. ......... .. ... $ 9,412 $ 4,757
Deferred lease iNCENLIVES . . . ... .ot 2,723 1,374
Amortization of intangibles . ........ .. . 2,507 2,064
Stock-based compensation .. ........ .. 1,744 537
Revenue recognition . ... ... 1,514 1,787
Net operating loss carryforward . .......... .. — 194
Ot 35 61
Total deferred assets .. ... 17,935 10,774
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment . .. ... ... (2,213) (967)
Prepaid eXPeNnSeS . .. .o (1,015) (438)
Total deferred liabilities . ........ ... ... . . (3,228) (1,405)
Net deferred tax @sset .. ... ..ot $14,707 $ 9,369

Although realization of the net deferred tax asset is not assured, management believes, based upon current
estimates, that it is more likely than not that all of the net deferred tax assets will be realized. Accordingly, the
Company determined that no valuation allowance against deferred tax assets at December 31, 2005 and 2004
was necessary.

14. Related Party Transactions

Pursuant to a registration rights agreement with HCG Holdings LLC, who owned a majority of the issued and
outstanding common stock of the Company at December 31, 2005 and is a related party, the Company is obli-
gated to pay all of the expenses relating to any public offerings. In connection with the initial public offering, in
which HCG Holdings LLC participated as a selling stockholder, the Company paid all of the offering expenses of
HCG Holdings LLC, other than underwriting discounts and commissions and transfer taxes with respect to the
shares sold by HCG Holdings LLC. The Company also paid costs associated with an offering that was withdrawn
in November 2005 and the secondary offering that was completed in February 2006. During the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, these costs totaled $0.5 million and $3.3 million, respectively.

HCG Holdings LLC is named as an additional insured party on the Company'’s directors and officers in-
surance policy. The Company pays all of the expenses of this policy.

Huron Consulting Services LLC entered into an agreement, effective as of September 3, 2003, with Highline
Technology LLC, an entity in which one of the Company’s board members owns 50%. Pursuant to the agreement,
Highline Technology provides certain management and information technology services to the Company. During
2004, the Company terminated the original agreement and entered into a new agreement with Highline Technol-
ogy to provide limited consulting services. During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company
paid to Highline Technology fees totaling $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively. No payments were made
under the agreement in 2003.
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15. Client Bankruptcy Case

On July 5, 2005, one of the Company’s clients filed for bankruptcy. Subsequent to the filing of the bankruptcy,
the Company continued to provide interim management, revenue cycle management and strategic sourcing serv-
ices under an engagement contract with the client. In addition, the Company continued to provide services pur-
suant to a separate engagement contract with the client’s bankruptcy counsel to assist with the bankruptcy
process.

On October 21, 2005, the client filed an application with the Bankruptcy Court to authorize the retention of the
Company during the bankruptcy process. In connection with the application, new financial terms and conditions of
the engagement contracts, including billing terms and rates for the Company’s services, were negotiated and
agreed to with the client and certain other interested parties retroactive to July 5, 2005 pursuant to a new
engagement contract that superseded the original contracts. At a hearing held on October 28, 2005, the Bank-
ruptcy Court approved on an interim basis the Company’s retention based on these agreed upon terms. On De-
cember 14, 2005, the Bankruptcy Court approved the Company’s retention on a permanent basis.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the effects of the new financial terms and con-
ditions approved by the Bankruptcy Court. The effect of the change in financial terms was to reduce revenues
before reimbursable expenses in the year ended December 31, 2005 by $2.1 million from the amounts provided
for under the original terms of the interim management contract with the client.

Based on the projected cash flows under the new financial terms and conditions approved by the Bankruptcy
Court, the intangible value that the Company assigned to the interim management contract in connection with the
Speltz &Weis LLC acquisition has decreased. Accordingly, the Company wrote off the remaining carrying value of
this contract in the third quarter of 2005. This charge, totaling $0.6 million, is included in depreciation and amor-
tization on the Company’s consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2005 and is attrib-
utable to the Financial Consulting segment.

The results for the year ended December 31, 2005 also reflect legal and related costs totaling approximately
$0.9 million associated with the bankruptcy process.

16. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation

From time to time, the Company is involved in various legal matters arising out of the ordinary course of
business. Although the outcome of these matters cannot presently be determined, in the opinion of management,
disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations
of the Company.
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Lease Commitments

The Company leases office space and certain equipment and software under noncancelable operating and
capital lease arrangements expiring on various dates through 2016, with various renewal options. The Company’s
principal executive offices located in Chicago, lllinois are under a lease that expires in September 2014, with two
five-year renewal options. The Company also has office facilities located in New York City, New York under a
lease that expires in July 2016, with one five-year renewal option. Office facilities under operating leases include
fixed or minimum payments plus, in some cases, scheduled base rent increases over the term of the lease. Cer-
tain leases provide for monthly payments of real estate taxes, insurance and other operating expense applicable
to the property. Some of the leases contain provisions whereby the future rental payments may be adjusted for
increases in operating expense above the specified amount. Rental expense, including operating costs and taxes,
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $5.0 million, $4.1 million and $3.0 million, re-
spectively. Future minimum rental commitments under non-cancelable leases and sublease income as of De-
cember 31, 2005, are as follows:

Capital Operating
Lease Lease Sublease
Obligations Obligations Income

2006 .. $282 $ 7,003 $(299)
2007 .. 127 9,411 (182)
2008 ... — 9,083 —
2000 . . — 8,516 —
2000 . . — 7,882 —
Thereafter ....... ... . . . . — 32,663 —
TOtAl . e $409 $74,558 $(481)

Guarantees

Guarantees in the form of letters of credit totaling $6.5 million and $1.7 million were outstanding at December
31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, to support certain office lease obligations.

To the extent permitted by law, the Company’s by-laws and articles of incorporation require that the Com-
pany indemnify its officers and directors against judgments, fines, and amounts paid in settlement, including
attorney’s fees, incurred in connection with civil or criminal action or proceedings, as it relates to their services to
the Company if such person acted in good faith. Although there is no limit on the amount of indemnification, the
Company may have recourse against its insurance carrier for certain payments made.

17. Segment Information

Segments are defined by SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information,” as components of a company in which separate financial information is available and is evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources
and in assessing performance.

The Company provides services through two segments: Financial Consulting and Operational Consulting.
The Financial Consulting segment provides services that help clients effectively address complex challenges that
arise from litigation, disputes, investigations, regulation, financial distress and other sources of significant conflict
or change. The Operational Consulting segment provides services that help clients improve the overall efficiency
and effectiveness of their operations by enhancing revenue, reducing costs, managing regulatory compliance and
maximizing procurement efficiency.

Segment operating income consists of the revenues generated by a segment, less the direct costs of rev-
enue and selling, general and administrative costs that are incurred directly by the segment. Unallocated corpo-
rate costs include costs related to administrative functions that are performed in a centralized manner that are not
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attributable to a particular segment. These administrative function costs include costs for corporate office support,
all office facility costs, costs relating to accounting and finance, human resources, legal, marketing, information
technology and company-wide business development functions, as well as costs related to overall corporate
management.

From time to time, the Company may reclassify certain revenues and expenses among the segments to align
them with the changes in the Company’s internal organizational structure. Beginning January 1, 2005, the Foren-
sic Technology and Discovery Services group was moved from the Financial Consulting segment to the Opera-
tional Consulting segment to improve marketing synergies with the Legal Business Consulting practice. Previously
reported segment information has been reclassified to reflect this change. This reclassification had no effect on
previously reported net income.

The following table presents information about reported segments along with the items necessary to reconcile
the segment information to the totals reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements:

Year ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Financial Consulting:
REVENUES . . ottt $118,178 $ 92,378 $ 68,028
Operating iNCOME . .. oottt e e e $ 46,676 $ 34,365 $ 20,601
Segment operating income as a percent of segmentrevenues .............. 39.5% 37.2% 30.3%
Operational Consulting:
REVENUES . .ot $ 89,035 $ 67,172 $ 33,458
Operating iNCoOME . . .. ..o e e e $ 31,680 $ 23,009 $ 6,793
Segment operating income as a percent of segmentrevenues .............. 35.6% 34.3% 20.3%
Total Company:
REVENUES . ..o $207,213 $159,550 $101,486
Reimbursable eXpenses . ... 18,749 14,361 8,808
Total revenues and reimbursable expenses ................ ... ... $225,962 $173,911 $110,294
Statement of operations reconciliation:
Segment operating iNCOME . . .. ..ttt ettt $ 78,356 $ 57,374 $ 27,394
Charges not allocated at the segment level:
Other selling, general and administrative expenses ................... 39,597 31,417 20,601
Stock-based compensation eXpense . ... .. 1,896 433 14
Depreciation and amortization eXpense . ... 5,282 2,365 5,328
Restructuring charges . ........ . — 3,475 —
Loss on lease abandonment . .......... ... — — 1,668
Interest (income) eXpense, Net . ... .ot e (472) 692 856
O N L 37 — 112
Net income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes ............... $ 32,016 $ 18,992 $ (1,185)
Segment assets:
Financial Consulting . ... ...t $ 24,825 $ 18,921 $ 15,961
Operational Consulting . ... i e e 22,526 13,659 7,103
Unallocated assets (1) . ..o v vttt e 82,348 50,639 16,825
Total @SSetS ..o $129,699 $ 83,219 $ 39,889

(1) Goodwill and intangible assets are included in unallocated assets, as the Company’s chief operating decision
maker does not allocate these items in assessing segment performance or in allocating resources.

All long-lived assets are in the United States. During the year ended December 31, 2005, one client gen-
erated $23.0 million, or 11.1%, of the Company’s consolidated revenues. Of the $23.0 million, $19.5 million was
generated by the Financial Consulting segment and $3.5 million was generated by the Operational Consulting
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segment. At December 31, 2005, a separate client’s total receivables and unbilled services balance represented
11.3% of the Company’s total receivables and unbilled services balance. During 2004 and 2003, no client in either
segment accounted for 10% or more of total revenues or 10% or more of total receivables and unbilled services of
the Company.

18. Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

The following summarizes the activity of the allowances for doubtful accounts and unbilled services:

Beginning Ending
balance Additions Deductions* balance

Year ended December 31, 2003:

Allowances for doubtful accounts and unbilled services . ........ $ 382 5,335 3,925 $1,792
Year ended December 31, 2004:

Allowances for doubtful accounts and unbilled services ......... $1,792 9,051 7,178 $3,665
Year ended December 31, 2005:

Allowances for doubtful accounts and unbilled services ......... $3,665 7,444 7,165 $3,944

* Deductions include write-offs of accounts receivable, fee adjustments related to estimated overruns on fixed
and capped fee engagements and other discretionary pricing adjustments.

19. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

Quarter Ended

w Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31
REVENUES . ittt e e e $46,760 $50,517 $54,309 $55,627
Reimbursable expenses . .. ... . 4,370 4,691 4,840 4,848
Total revenues and reimbursable expenses ........................ 51,130 55,208 59,149 60,475
Gross profit ... .. 20,799 21,365 22,897 22,837
Operating iNCOME . . . ...t e e e 8,229 8,150 7,218 7,984
Net income attributable to common stockholders ................... 4,827 4,657 3,766 4,519
Net income attributable to common stockholders per share*:

BasSIC .. $ 031 $ 030 $ 024 $ 0.28

Diluted ... $ 029 $ 028 $ 022 $ 0.27
Weighted average shares used in calculating net income attributable to

common stockholders per share*:
BaSIC .. 15,547 15,646 15,777 15,990
Diluted . ... 16,677 16,773 16,950 17,027
Quarter Ended

w Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31
REVENUES . ottt $40,101 $41,503 $37,109 $40,837
Reimbursable expenses . .. ... . 3,443 3,647 3,225 4,046
Total revenues and reimbursable expenses .. ...................... 43,544 45,150 40,334 44,883
Gross Profit .. ... 15,153 18,885 14,762 17,582
Operating iNCOME . . . ..o e e 4,253 8,731 2,135 4,565
Net income attributable to common stockholders ................... 2,074 4,600 811 2,448
Net income attributable to common stockholders per share*:

BasSIC .. $ 016 $ 035 $ 006 $ 0.16

Diluted . ... $ 015 $ 032 $ 006 $ 0.15
Weighted average shares used in calculating net income attributable to

common stockholders per share*:
BasSIC .. 11,974 12,050 12,180 15,061
Diluted . ... 12,747 13,044 13,149 16,101
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20. Subsequent Event (unaudited)

In a secondary offering completed in February 2006, HCG Holdings LLC sold 6,300,000 of its shares of the
Company’s common stock at an offering price of $27.00 per share. Upon completion of the offering, HCG Hold-
ings LLC held approximately 14.0% of the Company’s issued and outstanding common stock. The Company did
not offer any shares and did not receive any proceeds from this offering. Additionally, the underwriters may also
purchase up to an additional 945,000 shares of common stock from HCG Holdings LLC at the public offering price
within 30 days from February 3, 2006.
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